

University of Tennessee, Knoxville Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

#### Masters Theses

Graduate School

#### 8-2011

# Examining the Roles of PsToc75 POTRA Domains in Chloroplast Protein Import

Richard Franklin Simmerman rsimmerm@utk.edu

#### **Recommended** Citation

Simmerman, Richard Franklin, "Examining the Roles of PsToc75 POTRA Domains in Chloroplast Protein Import. "Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, 2011. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_gradthes/1024

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Richard Franklin Simmerman entitled "Examining the Roles of PsToc75 POTRA Domains in Chloroplast Protein Import." I have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, with a major in Biochemistry and Cellular and Molecular Biology.

Dr. Barry Bruce, Major Professor

We have read this thesis and recommend its acceptance:

Gladys Alexandre, Nitin Jain

Accepted for the Council: <u>Dixie L. Thompson</u>

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

Examining the Roles of PsToc75 POTRA Domains in Chloroplast Protein Import

A Thesis Presented for the Master of Science Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> Richard Franklin Simmerman August 2011

© 2011 Richard Franklin Simmerman

All Rights Reserved

Dedicated to my family

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my PI, Dr. Barry D. Bruce, for accepting a boisterous graduate student into his laboratory. His advice and guidance have helped me become a better scientist and more importantly a better man. It is a great encouragement coming to work for someone whose passion for his projects is exceeded only by his passion for those accomplishing, or at least trying to accomplish, those projects. I would like to thank a former boss and current committee member, Dr. Gladys Alexandre. First for the raise she gave me when I joined her lab as a technician, and for explaining some of the finer points of molecular biology to me. Her enthusiasm for science and life is contagious. I would like to thank committee member, Dr. Nitin Jain for giving me advice with my current project and his support.

I owe thanks to former and current lab-mates for advice and help. Prakitchai "Non" Chotewutmontri for teaching me countless techniques and always having time to answer my questions, Ashita Dave for the molecular biology she accomplished that made my experiments possible, Dr. Evan Reddick for help with cross-linking experiments, Michael Vaughn for his help with protein purification and being the most patient teacher I have met, Michelle Brown for becoming a protein production machine and her help with experiments, and everyone else that has had to put up with me in the Bruce lab so far.

I would like to thank my family and friends for always being there for me. Sam Shieh for being a great friend with unconditional support, Sarah Dorr for being the most genuine friend I could imagine, Kristina for being the best sister ever who is always there for me, and mom and dad for showing me what it means to love and be loved.

#### Abstract

During chloroplast formation via endosymbiosis most of the plastid genome was transferred to the host nuclear genome. Genomic and proteomic analysis suggests that >95% of the original plastid proteome is now encoded in the nucleus, and these now cytosolically fabricated proteins require a post-translational transport pathway back into the organelle. This process is not well understood, yet it has been shown to involve translocons at the outer and inner envelope of the chloroplast membranes (TOC & TIC). These translocons interact with a cleavable N-terminal extension of between 20 and 100 residues on chloroplast-bound precursor proteins known as the transit-peptide. Precursor proteins pass through the outer membrane via the outer chloroplast membrane  $\beta$ -barrel, Toc75. In addition to containing a transmembrane beta-barrel, Toc75 also contains three polypeptide transport (POTRA) domain repeats at the N-terminus. Despite widespread occurrence the role of POTRAs is poorly understood. One possibility is that they function to promote either homo- or heterotypic protein:protein interactions.

To investigate these possibilities, we modeled the psToc75 POTRA domains and purified recombinant POTRA domains. POTRA1, POTRA3, and POTRA1-3 have been used to investigate interactions. Homotypic POTRA interactions have been supported by crosslinking experiments and analytical ultra centrifugation (AUC). Crosslinking data shows POTRA1 and POTRA3 undergo oligimerization. AUC suggests that POTRA1 may homodimerize. Heterotypic interactions have been studied via pull-down assays, crosslinking, and AUC and demonstrate that POTRA1 and POTRA3 interact with transit peptide. Soluble POTRA1-3 seems to stimulate precursor protein import into isolated chloroplasts in an import assay..

### **Table of Contents**

| Chapter 1 Introduction and Literature Review  | 1            |
|---|--------------|
| 1.1 Origin and Evolution of the Chloroplast   | 1            |
| 1.2 General Import Pathway of Cytosolically Produced Chloroplast-Bound Proteins       | 4            |
| 1.3 Transit Peptide   | 7            |
| 1.4 The Translocon at the Outer Envelope of the Chloroplast                           | 9            |
| 1.5 The Small GTPase Toc34 Family   | 10           |
| 1.6 The Large GTPase Toc159 Family  | 13           |
| 1.7 The Translocation Channel Toc75   | 14           |
| 1.8 Polypeptide-Transport Associated (POTRA) Domains                                  | 17           |
| Chapter 2 Materials and Methods   | 25           |
| 2.1 Generation of POTRA1-3-His  | 25           |
| 2.2 Expression and Purification of Proteins Using the Impact System                   | 27           |
| 2.3 Expression, Purification, and Refolding of POTRA1-3                               | 29           |
| 2.4 FPLC Purification of Fusion Proteins  | 29           |
| 2.5 Circular Dichroism of POTRA Domains   | 30           |
| 2.6 MALDI-TOF of POTRAs   | 30           |
| 2.7 Plant Growth and Chloroplast Isolation  | 31           |
| 2.8 Chlorophyll Measurement   | 33           |
| 2.9 Protein Measurement   | 33           |
| 2.10 Gel Electrophoresis and Staining   | 34           |
| 2.11 Antibodies and Western Blotting  | 36           |
| 2.12 Chemical Crosslinking  | 37           |
| 2.13 Fusion Protein – Transit Peptide Pulldown Assay                                  | 38           |
| 2.14 Analytical Ultracentrifugation   | 39           |
| 2.15 Purification of prSSUNt & mSSUNt from Inclusion Bodies                           | 39           |
| 2.16 In Vivo Radiolabeling of WI prSSUNt  | 40           |
| 2.17 In Vitro Chloroplast Import Competition Assay                                    | 41           |
| Chapter 3 Results   | 43           |
| 3.1 Introduction  | 43           |
| 3.2 Generation of POTRA2-His and POTRA1-3-His   | 44           |
| 3.3 Production of Purified, Folded POTRA Domains                                      | 50           |
| 3.4 Oligomerization of POTRA Domains  | 55           |
| 3.5 POTRAT Transit Peptide Crosslinking   | - 59<br>- 50 |
| 3.6 POTRA3 Transit Peptide Crosslinking   | 39           |
| 3./ POTRAT Transit Peptide Positional Specific Crossinking                            | 62<br>64     |
| 2.0 Analytical Ultracentrifugation Supports POTRAT Homo-Ongomenization                | 04           |
| 2.10 DOTP A.1. Dull down Assay Supports POTKAS Transit Peptide Interaction            | 00           |
| 2.11 Supergism of DOTP A 1.2 in in vitro Chloronlast Drotoin Import                   | 70           |
| 3.11 Syncigism of FOTKAT-3 in in vitro Unioropiast Protein Import<br>3.12 Conclusions | 12<br>75     |
|   | 13           |
| Chapter 4 Discussion  | <b>79</b>    |
| 4.1 Introduction  | /9           |

| 4.2 Conservation of POTRA Domains                                   | 79  |
|---|-----|
| 4.3 Role and Model of Action for Individual POTRA Domains           | 83  |
| 4.4 Models of POTRA Interaction with Peptide Substrates             | 88  |
| 4.5 Synergism of Recombinant POTRA1-3 in Chloroplast Protein Import | 93  |
| 4.6 Conclusions   | 96  |
| Chapter 5 Future Directions   | 97  |
| List of References  | 99  |
| Appendix  | 113 |
| Vita  | 123 |

## **Table of Figures**

| Figure 1.1 Endosymbiosis and Chloroplast Evolution                               | 2  |
|--|----|
| Figure 1.2 General Import Scheme   | 5  |
| Figure 1.3 Reconstructed TEM of TOC core complex                                 | 11 |
| Figure 1.4 Crystal Structure of FhaC   | 15 |
| Figure 1.5 POTRA Domains of Omp85/TspB Superfamily                               | 19 |
| Figure 3.1 POTRA Domains and Colony PCR of POTRA1-3                              | 46 |
| Figure 3.2 Colony PCR of POTRA1-3  | 47 |
| Figure 3.3 POTRA2-pTYB2 Production Problems                                      | 48 |
| Figure 3.4 POTRA1-3-pTYB2 Purification Failure                                   | 49 |
| Figure 3.5 POTRA3-pTYB2 Purification Profile                                     | 51 |
| Figure 3.6 POTRA1-3 Purification Profile   | 52 |
| Figure 3.7 SDS-PAGE Confirmation of POTRA Domain Purity and CD Spectra of        |    |
| POTRA Domains  | 53 |
| Figure 3.8 Secondary Structure of POTRA Domains                                  | 54 |
| Figure 3.9 MALDI-TOF Spectra for POTRA Domains                                   | 56 |
| Figure 3.11 Western-Blot Analysis of POTRA1-SStpPs Gluteraldehyde Crosslinking   | 60 |
| Figure 3.12 Western-Blot Analysis of POTRA3-SStpPs Gluteraldehyde Crosslinking   | 61 |
| Figure 3.13 Western Blot and Silver Stain Analysis of BMH crosslinking of POTRA1 |    |
| SStp <i>Ps</i>   | 63 |
| Figure 3.14 Homodimerization of POTRA1 Detected by AUC                           | 66 |
| Figure 3.15 POTRA1 Homodimerization via AUC                                      | 67 |
| Figure 3.16 POTRA3-SStpPs Heterodimer Supported by AUC                           | 68 |
| Figure 3.17 AUC of POTRA3-SStpPs Yields Discrete Species                         | 69 |
| Figure 3.18 Pulldown Assay Scheme  | 71 |
| Figure 3.19 Pulldown Assay Elutions Western Blot                                 | 73 |
| Figure 3.20 In vitro Import Competition Assays                                   | 74 |
| Figure 3.21 Stimulation of Protein Import by POTRA1-3                            | 76 |
| Figure 4.1 Cluster Analysis of POTRA Domains                                     | 80 |
| Figure 4.2 Crystal Structure of Cyanobacterial Omp85 POTRA Domains               | 82 |
| Figure 4.3 Model of POTRA1 Mitigating TOC Complex Oligomerization                | 84 |
| Figure 4.4 Transit Peptide Disrupts POTRA1 Oligomers                             | 86 |
| Figure 4.5 Proposed Role of POTRA in Protein Import                              | 87 |
| Figure 4.6 Tertiary Structural Similarity between POTRA Domain and Class I MHC   | 90 |
| Figure 4.7 PDZ Domain Dimer Interacting via Beta Augmentation                    | 92 |
| Figure 4.8 Proposed POTRA Domain Synergism                                       | 95 |
|  |    |

# Appendix of Supplementary Figures

| Appendix 1 POTRA1-3 PCR Recipe                                   | 114 |
|--|-----|
| Appendix 2 PCR Cycling Conditions for POTRA1-3-His               | 115 |
| Appendix 3 Ligation of POTRA1-3 into pGEM-T Easy                 | 116 |
| Appendix 4 Colony PCR Screen Recipe                              | 117 |
| Appendix 5 PCR Cycling Conditions for Colony PCR of POTRA1-3-His | 118 |
| Appendix 6 Ligation of POTRA1-3 into pET-30(a)                   | 119 |
| Appendix 7 Colony PCR Screen Recipe                              | 120 |
| Appendix 8 PCR Cycling Conditions for Colony PCR of POTRA1-3-His | 121 |
| Appendix 9 Tris-Tricine Gel Recipe                               | 122 |
|  |     |

#### **Chapter 1 Introduction and Literature Review**

#### **1.1 Origin and Evolution of the Chloroplast**

It has been more than a century since Mereschkowsky first proposed the endosymbiotic theory (Mereschkowsky 1905), and it is now widely accepted that contemporary chloroplasts are descendants of an ancient autonomous cyanobacteria (Martin and Kowallik 1999). Stromatolites and fossils provide evidence that oxygenic photosynthesis started ~3.5 Billion years ago (Ga) (Byerly et al. 1986; Walter et al. 1980), and that eukaryotic algae-like organisms existed 1.2 Ga (Butterfield 2000). Both symbiont and host cell underwent an incredible process, resulting in the transformation of a once free living cyanobacteria into chloroplasts, "little workers, green slaves" dependent on the host cell for function and replication (Figure 1.1, Mereschkowsky 1905).

One such adaptation was an enormous transfer of genetic material from the symbiont to the eukaryotic host cell (Weeden 1981). Modern chloroplast have a genome (plastome) that codes for less than 100 proteins (Leister and Kleine 2008), while having a proteome estimated between 1,900 and 4,500 (Abdullah et al. 2000; Leister 2003). The vast majority of the plastid DNA was either lost or transferred to the nucleus (Gabaldon and Huynen 2003). After a proto-symbiont lysed its DNA would have been free in the cytosol (Leister 2003), and DNA uptake from the cytosol seems to be a feature typical of eukaryotic cells (Howe et al. 2008). It has been estimated that *Arabidopsis thaliana* requisitioned between 12 and 18% of its current ~25,000 genes from plastid precursors (Abdullah et al. 2000; Martin et al. 2002).



#### Figure 1.1 Endosymbiosis and Chloroplast Evolution

After endosymbiosis, chloroplast ancestors (green) could have replicated within the host (gray). Lysis of these endosymbionts would result in a transfer of DNA to the host cell nucleus. After a mechanism for protein translocation evolved the redundant DNA could be lost from the organelle with no negative effect on the organism. Adapted from Dyall et al. 2004.

This newly acquired DNA in the nucleus of the host cell could mutate and rearrange until it was functionally active with plastid promoters (Noutsos et al. 2005; Stegemann and Bock 2006). The proteins destined for the chloroplast would need to obtain chloroplast-targeting sequences and the chloroplast would have to develop machinery to translocate the cytosolically-translated chloroplast-bound proteins through the chloroplast envelope consisting of outer and inner membranes (Inoue 2007; Keegstra and Cline 1999; Keegstra et al. 1984; Ueda et al. 2006). All of these steps would have been prerequisites for the deletion of homologous genes by the pre-chloroplasts. Even without selection for DNA retention, DNA introduced into eukaryotes is hypothesized to be able to persist for up to a million years, giving the photosynthetic eukaryotes opportunity to evolve (Huang et al. 2005; Matsuo et al. 2005). Because not all of the still present chloroplast-derived DNA is targeted back to the chloroplast the endosymbiosis benefitted the host with new genetic material as well as an organelle that can create sugar from water, inorganic carbon, and sunlight (Martin et al. 2002). Not all chloroplastderived DNA is targeted to the chloroplast, and not all chloroplast-targeted DNA is derived from one cyanobacterial ancestor. The sea slug *Elysia chlorotica* has acquired the psbO gene via horizontal gene transfer from algae that it eats, but is has not developed its own chloroplasts yet (Rumpho et al. 2008). There is evidence for eukaryote and even proteobacteria-derived proteins that are targeted to and used by the chloroplast (Martin and Schnarrenberger 1997).

#### 1.2 General Import Pathway of Cytosolically Produced Chloroplast-Bound Proteins

The host cell incorporating and reshuffling genes from the chloroplast ancestor into locations suitable for expression did not solve the logistical problem of moving cytosolically produced proteins through two membranes and back into the proto-plastid. The majority of chloroplast-destined proteins are recognized by cleavable N-terminal targeting sequences termed the transit peptides (TPs) discovered over 30 years ago (Chua and Schmidt 1978; Highfield and Ellis 1978). There is very little homology in primary sequence or secondary structure in solution among the thousand of known and predicted TPs (Bruce 2000). Different precursor proteins are specifically targeted to six locations in the chloroplast: the outer membrane, intermembrane space, inner membrane, stroma, thylakoid membrane, or the lumen (Dyall et al. 2004). If the TP is the ticket into the chloroplast via the general import pathway (Figure 1.2) then the receptor protein complexes termed the Translocon at the Outer/Inner envelope of the Chloroplast (TOC/TIC) and soluble chaperones that ensure specificity and directionality of chloroplast protein import make up the turnstiles (Blobel 1980; Cline 2000). This network involved in protein trafficking across the membranes of the chloroplast includes proteins that originated from eukaryotes, eubacteria, and cyanobacteria (Dyall et al. 2004).

Nascent precursor proteins interact with cytosolic chaperones including Hsp70 and 14-3-3 that along with other proteins make up a guidance complex (May and Soll 2000; Waegemann et al. 1990). This guidance complex transports the unfolded precursor protein to the outer membrane of the chloroplast (Hinnah et al. 1997) and facilitates precursor docking with either lipids in the chloroplast outer membrane (Bruce 1998) or the TOC complex (Inoue 2007). The core TOC complex consists of two GTP-binding



#### Figure 1.2 General Import Scheme

Schematic representation of precursor protein being translocated through the outer and inner membranes of the chloroplast via Toc75 (confirmed) and Tic20 (proposed). Transit peptide is cleaved during or directly after transport via the Stromal Processing Peptidase, leaving the mature protein. Area of the different subunits of import mechanism represents the number of residues that each subunit contains.

protein receptors the translocon at the outer envelope of the chloroplast of 159 kDa (Toc159) (Waegemann 1991) and translocon at the outer envelope of the chloroplast of 34 kDa (Toc34) (Kessler et al. 1994) along with a  $\beta$ -barrel pore translocon at the outerenvelope of the chloroplast of 75 kDa (Toc75) all first discovered in pea plants (Bauer et al. 2002; Waegemann and Soll 1991). Translocation across the outer membrane of the chloroplast requires low concentrations of GTP in the cytosol and ATP in the intermembrane space, and is mechanistically separable from inner envelope translocation *in vitro* (Olsen et al. 1989; Scott and Theg 1996; Theg et al. 1989).

In vivo studies have shown that although there can be a forced separation of the TOC and TIC import, in the cell these complexes work in a coordinated fashion (Alefsen et al. 1994; Kouranov et al. 1998; Schnell and Blobel 1993). The TIC complex is not as well understood as the TOC complex, but several members have been discovered. Tic110, the most abundant protein of the TIC complex (Block et al. 1983; Lubeck et al. 1996; Schnell et al. 1994), forms a cation-selective channel in proteoliposomes and isolated inner membranes (Balsera et al. 2009; Heins et al. 2002). Tic20 is another putative pore protein that uses four predicted  $\alpha$ -helical transmembrane segments to span the inner membrane (Kouranov et al. 1998). A motor complex is formed by the stromal ATPase Hsp93 (Akita et al. 1997; Chou et al. 2006) and Tic40 (Chou et al. 2003; Nielsen et al. 1997; Stahl et al. 1999) that is thought to assist in translocation of the precursor protein. Once the precursor protein makes it way into the stroma the N-terminal transit peptide is cleaved by the Stromal Processing Peptidase (SPP) and further degraded inside the stroma (Richter and Lamppa 1998), and the stromal chaperone Cpn60 is thought to play a

role in refolding the mature protein in an ATP-dependent pathway (Kessler and Blobel 1996).

#### **1.3 Transit Peptide**

The large majority of nuclear-encoded precursor proteins that are destined to be translocated into the chloroplast possess a cleavable N-terminal targeting sequence of between 20-150 amino acids termed the transit peptide (TP) (Bruce 1998). Transit peptide acquisition by plastid-destined proteins via exon shuffling, alternative splicing or gene duplication (Arimura et al. 1999; Gantt et al. 1991) was a critical step in plastid evolution (McFadden 1999), and has been linked with the origin of the import channel Toc75 (Reumann et al. 1999). Thousands of proteins are targeted to the chloroplast, and it is hypothesized that over a thousand different transit peptides target different precursor proteins into the chloroplast (Bruce 2000). At the primary sequence level transit peptides are highly divergent with respect to amino acid composition, organization, and length (Bruce 2001). TP is largely unstructured in an aqueous environment (Bruce 1998; Wienk et al. 1999), although in membrane mimicking solutions such as 2,2,2-trifluorethanol (TFE) or micelles TP has an increased alpha-helical content (Endo et al. 1992; von Heijne and Nishikawa 1991).

The TP possesses all of the information necessary for import into the chloroplast. Without the TP, chloroplast-bound proteins are unable to be imported (Bruce 2000; von Heijne et al. 1989). The TP is also sufficient for translocation and correct localization to the chloroplast stroma of precursor proteins. Any protein not natively destined for chloroplast will still be imported with the addition of an N-terminal TP (Schreier et al. 1985; Van den Broeck et al. 1985). The average TP is 58 amino acids in length (Bhushan et al. 2006) and is rich in hydroxylated, hydrophobic, and positively charged amino acids, while being deficient in acidic ones (Zhang and Glaser 2002). It has been postulated that there are three distinct regions in TPs: an uncharged N-terminal domain of between 10-15 residues that is essential for correct targeting (Emanuelsson et al. 1999; Lee et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2002; Rensink et al. 2000), a central domain with no acidic residues but increased serine and threonine residues, and a c-terminal domain with a cleavage site (Bruce 2000; Claros et al. 1997). The TP is cleaved from the precursor protein by the Stromal Processing Peptidase (SPP) during or directly after translocation leaving the mature protein intact (Schmidt et al. 1981).

The transit peptidome can be grouped into multiple subgroups with distinct sequence motifs (Lee et al. 2008). Some sequence motifs display a high degree of functional redundancy (Lee et al. 2006) and are proposed to interact with lipids and/or translocation machinery (Lee et al. 2008). All membranes that transport proteins have high levels of lipids that prefer to adopt a non-bilayer structure (Bruce 2000), and in the case of the chloroplast monogalactosydiacylglycerol (MGDG), a galactolipid found in the outer envelope of the chloroplast, is a wedge-like molecule that would form an inverted micelle if it was the only lipid present (Endo and Schatz 1988; Rietveld et al. 1995). In fact, it has been shown that precursor proteins interact better with artificial membranes if they contain MGDG (Pinnaduwage and Bruce 1996; van 't Hof et al. 1991) and is postulated that the ability of TPs to form alpha-helices may promote interaction or even insertion into the membrane lipids (Bruce 1998). Translocation machinery (import

receptors, heat shock proteins, and guidance proteins) could also form interactions with the multiple domains of transit peptides (Lee et al. 2008; Lee et al. 2006).

#### 1.4 The Translocon at the Outer Envelope of the Chloroplast

The precursor protein can be guided to the TOC complex by cytosolic factors. Hsp70 and 14-3-3 form a guidance complex that acts in a pathway specific to precursor proteins containing phosphorylated transit peptides, while un-phosphorylated precursor proteins can bind to cytosolic Hsp90 and a co-receptor Toc64 (Inoue and Akita 2008; May and Soll 2000; Obadou et al. 2007; Obadou et al. 2006). The TOC complex was originally isolated from peas in the early 1990s, and the core components first named Outer Envelope Proteins (OEPs) (Hirsch et al. 1994; Schnell et al. 1994; Seedorf et al. 1995; Waegemann and Soll 1991). OEP34, OEP75, and OEP86 later renamed Toc34, Toc75, and Toc159 (a proteolytically sensitive protein yielding an 86 kDa unit) are the components that make up the core TOC complex (Bolter et al. 1998; Schnell et al. 1994; Seedorf et al. 1995). Toc34 and Toc159 are integral GTPases that share high homology in their GTP-binding domains (G-domains) and are thought to be the primary receptors for precursor proteins (Andres et al. 2010). These GTPases work with the beta-barrel containing Toc75, which functions as the pore of the complex, to import precursor proteins (Gentle et al. 2004). The core TOC complex is sufficient for in vitro translocation into lipid vesicles and is estimated between 500 kDa and 1 MDa (Chen and Li 2007; Kikuchi et al. 2006; Kikuchi et al. 2009; Schleiff et al. 2003b; Schleiff et al. 2003c).

It has been shown that TOC subunits interact with themselves and each other, for example Toc75 interacts with Toc34 and Toc159, and Toc34 homodimerizes and heterodimerizes with Toc159 (Nielsen et al. 1997; Reddick et al. 2007; Seedorf et al. 1995). Isolated core complexes have a stoichiometry of 1:4:4 of Toc159:Toc75:Toc34 and were estimated to have a diameter of 120-140 angstroms and a height of 100-120 angstroms (Schleiff et al. 2003c). This information came from imaging a purified core TOC assembly by TEM with random conical tilt reconstruction performed to determine a low-resolution 3D structure of the TOC core complex (Figure 1.3). In *Arabidopsis* the presence of 2 paralogs of Toc34; *At*Toc130, and *At*Toc34, along with the 4 paralogs of Toc159; *At*Toc159, *At*Toc132, *At*Toc120, and *At*Toc90 mean that distinct classes of TOC complexes exist as combinations of those different paralogs (2000; Ivanova et al. 2004; Jackson-Constan and Keegstra 2001).

#### 1.5 The Small GTPase Toc34 Family

Toc34 has 2 domains: an N-terminal GTP-binding domain (G-domain) that is located in the cytosol and the C-terminal membrane anchor domain (M-domain) composed of a short hydrophobic stretch of amino acids (Kessler et al. 1994). GTPbinding proteins act as "molecular switches" by alternating between active GTP-bound and inactive GDP-bound states (Vernoud et al. 2003). The process regulated by TOC GTPases is the import of proteins into the chloroplast. *Ps*Toc34 binds to phosphorylated precursor proteins with higher affinity, and Toc34 can be phosphorylated to regulate its activity (Fulgosi and Soll 2002; Sveshnikova et al. 2000). Neither the G-activating protein (GAP), which causes hydrolysis of the GTP to GDP and inactivating Toc34, nor



Figure 1.3 Reconstructed TEM of TOC core complex

Purified TOC complex was imaged with transmission EM and three dimensionally reconstructed (Schleiff et al. 2003c). The TOC complex has 4 independent pores, consistent with the proposed 4:4:1 stoichiometry of Toc75:Toc34:Toc159 in the complex.

the guanine exchange factor (GEF), which leads to exchange of GDP for GTP activating Toc34 have been identified with certainty. Although some work has shown that transit peptide can act as the GAP for Toc34 (Reddick et al. 2008). Toc34 was specifically coisolated with precursor proteins at early and late import intermediate stages (Hirsch et al. 1994; Kessler et al. 1994; Perry and Keegstra 1994; Seedorf et al. 1995). Crystalization of the G-domains of Toc34 shows this domain is responsible for dimerization and that each monomer has a nucleotide binding site (Koenig et al. 2008; Sun et al. 2002).

*Arabidopsis* has 2 Toc34 paralogs, AtToc33 and AtToc34 (Constan et al. 2004; Jarvis et al. 1998). AtToc33 shares more identity and is thought to share the same role as PsToc34 (Constan et al. 2004). A knockout mutation of AtToc33, plastid protein import #1 (*ppi1*), gives a plant with a pale green phenotype and abnormal chloroplasts with smaller and less developed thylakoids (Gutensohn et al. 2004; Jarvis et al. 1998). *Ppi1* even results in a decrease of expression of nuclear encoded photosynthetic proteins, suggesting that there is regulation of the protein expression by the TOC (Kubis et al. 2003). An AtToc34 mutant with an insert into an exon, *ppi3*, yields plants with short root length (Constan et al. 2004). While neither mutation is lethal to the plant, a combination of *ppi1* and *ppi3* will not allow the plants to develop past the embryo stage (Constan et al. 2004). These homologs have partially overlapping, but non-redundant functions with respect to substrate import specificity.

#### 1.6 The Large GTPase Toc159 Family

Toc159 has a highly acidic N-terminal domain (A-domain) located in the cytosol, a central GTP-binding domain (G-domain) that shares very high identity with the G-domain of Toc34, and a C-terminal domain (M-domain) that anchors the protein to the outer membrane (Richardson et al. 2009). The GTP dependence of the TOC as evidenced by inhibition of import with non-hydrolyzable GTP analogs (Schnell et al. 1994) is due to the Toc34 and Toc159 (Leipe et al. 2002; Weirich et al. 2008). Toc159 was originally isolated from pea as an 86-kDa species and dubbed OEP86 (Hirsch et al. 1994; Kessler et al. 1994; Perry and Keegstra 1994; Seedorf et al. 1995). The 86-kDa protein was a fragment consisting of the G and M domains (Bolter et al. 1998; Chen and Li 2007). The null mutant of Toc159 (*ppi2*) has shown that the A-domain is dispensable because the mutant is rescued by the A-domain deleted Toc159-GM (Agne et al. 2009; Lee et al. 2003). Toc159 has been cross-linked to the precursor protein at the binding phase and early import phase (Ma et al. 1996; Perry and Keegstra 1994). Toc159 preferentially binds to only non-phosphorylated precursor proteins (Becker et al. 2004).

It has been demonstrated that Toc159 has specificity for photosynthetic precursor proteins, which helps explain the pale phenotype and decreased transcription of photosynthesis-regulated genes in the mutant *ppi2* (Bauer et al. 2000; Jarvis 2008). Toc132 and Toc120 seem to have at least partially overlapping functions as double mutant knock-outs of both genes is embryo lethal, and overexpression of either Toc120 or Toc132 complement the double mutant, but not *ppi2* (Ivanova et al. 2004; Kubis et al. 2004). Toc132 and Toc120 are suggested to import housekeeping genes and to be more

involved in non-photosynthetic tissues, it is these members of the Toc159 family that are thought to play a role in gravitropism while possibly interacting with actin (Friedman et al. 2003; Jouhet and Gray 2009; Kubis et al. 2004; Stanga et al. 2009). It is interesting to note that Toc132 and Toc120 are not found in the same complex with Toc159, and that Toc132 and Toc120 locate with Toc34 while Toc159 locates with Toc33 (Ivanova et al. 2004; Smith et al. 2004).

#### 1.7 The Translocation Channel Toc75

Toc75 is the only TOC component of cyanobacterial origin, Toc34 and Toc159 were added later on, but still early in evolution because they are common to all higher plants, algae, and mosses (Kalanon and McFadden 2008; Reumann et al. 2005; Reumann and Keegstra 1999). Toc75 is the most abundant protein in the outer membrane of the chloroplast and interacts with Toc159 and Toc34 (Nielsen et al. 1997; Seedorf et al. 1995). Toc75 is the only known chloroplast outer membrane protein with a cleavable bipartite N-terminal targeting sequence, where the most N-terminal part is a classical transit peptide, cleaved by the SPP, and the C-terminal portion is cleaved in the inner membrane space by an envelope-bound type I signal peptidase (Inoue and Keegstra 2003). The mature portion of Toc75 has two unique domains typical of the outer membrane protein of 85 kDa (Omp85)/ two partner secretion (TPS) superfamily; an N-terminal portion composed of three polypeptide-transport associated (POTRA) domains, and a C-terminal pore made up of twelve to eighteen  $\beta$ -strands, TPS protein FhaC has been crystallized and is shown in Figure 1.4 (Ertel et al. 2005; Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003).



#### **Figure 1.4 Crystal Structure of FhaC**

FhaC, the TpsB exporter of filamentous hemagluttinin A (FHA), crystalized by Clantin et al. 2007 demonstrates the C-terminal pore and N-terminal POTRA domains that interact with FHA (Delattre et al. 2011).

The Omp85 family has proteins that function to insert other  $\beta$ -barrel proteins into the outer membranes of gram-negative bacteria, mitochondria, and chloroplasts (Gentle et al. 2005; Patel et al. 2008). TPS systems consist of two proteins, secreted "TpsA" proteins and their specific "TpsB" transporters (Jacob-Dubuisson et al. 2009; Kajava and Steven 2006).

The pea has two Toc75 paralogs; Toc75 (the translocation pore) and Toc75-V (a direct ortholog of cyanobacterial ancestor (Eckart et al. 2002). *Arabidopsis* has three that are represented by expressed sequence tags; atToc75-I (shares 60% identity with atToc75-III), atToc75-III (the main pore with 74% identity to psToc75), and atToc75-IV (half the size with 407 amino acids, that align with the C-terminus of the other Toc75s, versus the 819 present in atToc75-III) (Jackson-Constan and Keegstra 2001). AtToc75-I is a pseudo-gene with a transposon inserted inside the sequence, meaning there is no real expression in the cell (Baldwin et al. 2005). AtToc75-IV does not have a cleavable N-terminal transit peptide, and most likely lacks POTRA domains, as it was not sensitive to protease treatment (Baldwin et al. 2005). The atToc75-III knock-out mutant is embryo lethal (Baldwin et al. 2005). The OEP80 (originally named atToc75-V) is responsible for insertion of outer membrane proteins into the chloroplast envelope is a member of the Omp85 family and is thought to have diverged from Toc75 before the endosymbiotic event (Inoue and Potter 2004).

The evidence for Toc75 acting as the pore for protein translocation includes; cross-linking and patch-clamp experiments showing Toc75 interacts with precursor proteins during import, crosslinking data showing an association with envelope-bound

import intermediates, and arrest of import into purified chloroplasts by antibodies against Toc75 (Ma et al. 1996; Perry and Keegstra 1994; Schnell et al. 1994; Tranel et al. 1995). Toc75 forms a cationic-selective voltage-gated ion channel that interacts specifically with precursor proteins, with a pore of 14 angstroms at its narrowest point (Hinnah et al. 1997; Hinnah et al. 2002).

#### 1.8 Polypeptide-Transport Associated (POTRA) Domains

The polypeptide-transport associated (POTRA) domain is found in the Nterminus in members of the outer membrane protein of 85 kDa (Omp85) and two partner secretion (TPS) superfamily and is involved in the assembly of proteins into or translocation across the outer membrane of mitochondria, chloroplasts, and gram negative bacteria (Delattre et al. 2011; Gentle et al. 2004; Gentle et al. 2005; Knowles et al. 2009; Moslavac et al. 2005; Paschen et al. 2003; Reumann et al. 1999; Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003; Voulhoux et al. 2003). POTRA domains are counted increasingly from the Nterminus (Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003). POTRA domains are often recognized by antibodies raised against the entire protein (e.g.: D15) and have been suggested for possible use in vaccines against: cholera (Ruffolo and Adler 1996), meningitis (Manning et al. 1998; Yang et al. 1998), gonorrhea (Manning et al. 1998), and syphilis (Cameron et al. 2000; Poolman et al. 2000; Robb et al. 2001). Antibodies against POTRA domains could be developed in people without risk of catching the disease the bacteria give, and could provide protection against future infections. All members of the Omp85/TPS superfamily have between one and seven POTRA domain repeats (Figure 1.5) (Arnold et al. 2010; Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003).

TpsA proteins all harbor a conserved, 250-residue long N-terminal "TPS" domain essential for secretion (Clantin et al. 2004; Hodak et al. 2006) and are involved in adhesion (Borlee et al. 2010), cytolysis, contact-dependent growth inhibition (Aoki et al. 2005), biofilm formation, proteolysis, and host-cell invasion (Jacob-Dubuisson et al. 2004). The POTRA domains present in the N-terminus of the TpsB proteins interact with the secreted TpsA proteins (Clantin et al. 2007; Hodak et al. 2006).

Beta-barrel proteins in the outer membrane involved in protein transport termed polypeptide-transporting  $\beta$ -barrel proteins (PTBs) can be divided in two classes via their functions (Inoue and Potter 2004; Jacob-Dubuisson et al. 2009; Moslavac et al. 2005). Class I PTBs are involved in secretion through the outer bacterial membrane, while Class II proteins function to insert  $\beta$ -barrel proteins into outer membranes (Koenig et al. 2010). Class I PTBs have two POTRA domains, while class II proteins have between one and seven (Arnold et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2007; Koenig et al. 2010; Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003).

POTRA domains show very little primary sequence homology, in-fact, only glycine and hydrophobic residues forming the core of the domain are conserved between POTRAs (Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003). However, the secondary structure was both predicted (Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003) to be conserved and shown by crystallization and/or NMR of POTRA domains of BamA (Kim et al. 2007), FhaC (Clantin et al. 2007), FtsQ (van den Ent et al. 2008), *Thermosynechococcus elongatus* Omp85 (*Te*Omp85)



#### Figure 1.5 POTRA Domains of Omp85/TspB Superfamily

Conserved POTRA domains are found in *E. coli*; BamA - involved outer membrane biogenesis and FtsQ - the only POTRA containing protein that does not have a  $\beta$ -barrel involved in cell division. POTRA domains are also present in cyanobacteria; *T. elongatus*, *Anabaena*, and *Synechocystis* - these proteins are proposed to function in membrane biogenesis. Mitochondrial Sam50 has one copy of the POTRA domain, while the Omp85 of *Myxococcus xanthus* has six POTRA copies, both proteins function in membrane biogenesis. The Oep80 protein functions in chloroplast membrane biogenesis as well. FhaC is a protein exporter in N. meningitides with two POTRA copies. Toc75 is the protein importer in the outer chloroplast membrane and possesses three POTRA repeats. Figure adapted from Sanchez-Pulido. (2003) and Hsu and Inoue (2009)

(Arnold et al. 2010), and *Anabaena* Omp85 (*Ana*Omp85) (Koenig et al. 2010) to have a conserved structure, which was experimentally determined to have the consensus  $\beta$ - $\alpha$ - $\alpha$ - $\beta$ - $\beta$  (Figure 1.6). The orientation of tandem POTRA domains differ among crystal structures (Ward et al. 2009), and in-solution structures of POTRA domains reveal a dynamic structure (Knowles et al. 2008). Generally the POTRA domain closest to the pore tends to have a fixed arrangement with respect to the pore (Koenig et al. 2010).

In Omp85 the POTRA domains are thought to be involved in protein-protein interactions during substrate recognition or in formation of the heteroligomer transporter complexes (Ertel et al. 2005; Kalanon and McFadden 2008; Kim et al. 2007). A suggested form of interaction between the POTRA domains with each other or other proteins is  $\beta$ -augmentation (Harrison 1996), which has been seen in crystal structures (Gatzeva-Topalova et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2007; Koenig et al. 2010).  $\beta$ -sheet augmentation occurs when a free peptide or part of a protein possesses clusters at the edge of a  $\beta$ -sheet, and the free peptide adopts a  $\beta$ -strand conformation stabilizing the interaction between peptide and  $\beta$ -sheet by the addition of another  $\beta$ -strand (Harrison 1996).

The Omp85 family is essential for the assembly of outer membrane  $\beta$ -barrel proteins in gram negative outer membranes (Genevrois et al. 2003; Voulhoux et al. 2003; Wu et al. 2005) and has been found in the genome of all sequenced bacteria (Gentle et al. 2004; Voulhoux and Tommassen 2004). Omp85 homologs in *Arabidopsis thaliana* include: sorting assembly machinery of 50 kDa (Sam50) in the mitochondria outer membrane (Gentle et al. 2004; Kozjak et al. 2003; Paschen et al. 2003), outer envelope

protein of 80 kDa (OEP80), which mediates assembly of chloroplastic outer membrane proteins (Schleiff et al. 2003a) and is closely related to bacterial and cyanobacterial Omp85s (Eckart et al. 2002; Inoue and Potter 2004), and Toc75-III (Hinnah et al. 1997; Schleiff et al. 2003c; Schnell et al. 1994).

While certain POTRA domains are essential for cell viability, e.g. POTRA5 of Omp85 in Neisseria meningitidis (Bos et al. 2007), deletion of any of them show a decrease in function of the protein machinery they are part of or a decrease in cell viability (Bos et al. 2007; Bredemeier et al. 2007; Clantin et al. 2007; Ertel et al. 2005; Habib et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2007). The single POTRA domain of Sam50 is not necessary for targeting or correct insertion of Sam50 into the mitochondrial outer membrane, but it is required for optimal function of Sam50 and normal growth of yeast cells (Habib et al. 2007). Less  $\beta$ -barrel is imported at lower import efficiencies into the outer mitochondrial membrane with less POTRA domains, and POTRA domains has been shown to specifically bind  $\beta$ -barrel proteins destined for the mitochondrial outer membrane (Habib et al. 2007). The N-terminal portion (containing the POTRA domains) of Omp85 of Nostoc sp. PCC7120 (nOmp85) is responsible for complex formation in native membranes, its deletion yields only one stabilized assembly of monomeric Omp85 while the wild-type protein is part of a homo-trimeric complex (Bredemeier et al. 2007). The POTRA domains of *n*Omp85 have an affinity for the C-terminal pore of the protein, and act as a docking site for incoming precursor proteins (Bredemeier et al. 2007). POTRAs of *n*Omp85 have a structural and functional influence and can even regulate the flux through the pore of the protein (Bredemeier et al. 2007).

POTRA domains one through four of BamA crystallized as a dimer with individual domains interacting via  $\beta$ -augmentation, even though they act as a monomer in solution (Kim et al. 2007). POTRA5 is necessary for interactions with YfiO, NlpB, and SmpA (all proteins involved in the outer membrane  $\beta$ -barrel protein biogenesis), while POTRA1 is required for an interaction with YfgL (Kim et al. 2007). POTRA1 also interacts with SurA (Sklar et al. 2007; Vuong et al. 2008), a periplasmic chaperone, with an arginine residue of the POTRA domain crucial for the interaction (Bennion et al. 2010). Cells harboring deletions of POTRA1 or POTRA2 of BamA lead to poor cell growth, while cells with deletions of POTRA3 or POTRA4 do not survive wild-type BamA depletion, and cells without POTRA5 do not survive even when they possess copies of wild type BamA (Kim et al. 2007).

POTRA domains are very important for the function of FhaC the *Neisseria meningitidis* exporter of filamentous hemagglutinin (FHA) as deletion of either POTRA domain will abolish secretion of FHA, and insertion of residues into the POTRA domains strongly affects secretion (Clantin et al. 2007). The POTRA domains (specifically helix 2 of POTRA1) are involved in FHA recognition (Clantin et al. 2007). The isoelectric points of POTRA1 and FHA are 4.56 and 9.99 suggesting that their  $3.9 \pm 0.5 \mu$ M interaction may be electrostatic (Delattre et al. 2011). Functionally essential POTRA2 is presumed to use  $\beta$ -augmentation during the transport of FHA, and substitions in this domain have the most severe affect on secretion (Delattre et al. 2011).

POTRA3 of BamA shows a  $\beta$ -bulge of two residues as well as an additional ten amino acids in between the  $\alpha$ -1 and  $\alpha$ -2 helices (Gatzeva-Topalova et al. 2008), and POTRA2 of *Anabaena* has equivalent features with the ten residues forming a 3-10 helix (Koenig et al. 2010). Phylogenetic analysis shows that POTRAs cluster by their positional number, which supports the hypothesis that their order remains important (Bos et al. 2007). In-solution structures of POTRA domains reveal dynamic domain orientations (Knowles et al. 2008) that are supported by the substantial deviation between different crystal structures of tandem POTRA domains (Ward et al. 2009). Although spectroscopic studies suggest that there is more restriction among domain-domain orientations between POTRA1 and POTRA2 than NMR data does (Ward et al. 2009). *Ana*Omp85 shows a stable interaction for the POTRA3-POTRA2 region, and more flexibility at the POTRA2-POTRA1 interface (Koenig et al. 2010).

Toc75 POTRAs were not shown to have affinity for the C-terminal pore by bluenative PAGE, cross-linking, or liposome titration (Bredemeier et al. 2007). Toc75 has a precursor protein-binding site (Hinnah et al. 1997). The N-terminus of *Ps*Toc75 was shown to interact with precursor to the small subunit of RuBisCO (pSSU) but not the mature form of the protein (mSSU) (Ertel et al. 2005). An interaction of the N-terminus of *Ps*Toc75 with Toc34 $\Delta$ TM has been noted (Ertel et al. 2005). The most C-terminal POTRA has been demonstrated to be responsible for gating of the translocons (Ertel et al. 2005; Kim et al. 2007).

POTRA domains seem to be important for homooligomerization (Bredemeier et al. 2007; Ertel et al. 2005; Moslavac et al. 2005). Similarities between proteobacterial and cyanobacterial POTRAs include interfaces on POTRAs that are proposed to be involved in protein-protein interactions along with a flexible "hinge" region between a pair of

domains (Koenig et al. 2010). The L1-loop is situated between  $\beta$ -1 and  $\alpha$ -1 in the most Cterminal POTRA domain, and has been identified to be important in gating in *Ana*Omp85 (Koenig et al. 2010) and has been predicted to be in Toc75-III (Baldwin et al. 2005), OEP80 (Eckart et al. 2002), and in Sam50 (Gentle et al. 2004; Kozjak et al. 2003; Paschen et al. 2003). There is a three amino acid insertion found in cyanobacterial and Toc75 (L1) that is not present in mitochondria or proteobacterial Omp85s (Koenig et al. 2010). It seems that each different POTRA domain of a protein have unique roles in the insertion or translocation of proteins into or through outer membranes.

The goal of this work is to produce individual and combinations of recombinant POTRA domains from *Ps*Toc75, and test their interactions with themselves, other recombinant POTRA domains, and precursor proteins/transit peptides. The possible interactions will be tested with glutaraldehyde and BMH cross-linking, analytical ultracentrifugation, pull-down assays, and an *in vitro* chloroplast protein import assay. This will allow an *in vitro* dissection of each POTRA domain's contribution to the TOC complex and chloroplast protein import, and possible conserved roles for specific POTRA domains.

#### **Chapter 2 Materials and Methods**

#### 2.1 Generation of POTRA1-3-His

Primers introducing an NdeI (CAT ATG) restriction site 5' and an XhoI (CTC GAG) restriction site 3' from the predicted POTRA1-3(small) codon-optimized DNA of *ps*Toc75 were designed.

P1-FKKY-FORW 5' GGT GGT CAT ATG TTT AAG AAA TAC AAA ATC TCA G 3' POTRA6-Xho1 Reverse 5' GGT GGT GGT CTC GAG TTT CTG CTC CA 3'

All primers were synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT; Coralville, IA) received as lyophilized powder, and resuspended to 50  $\mu$ M in deionized, autoclaved H<sub>2</sub>O (ddH<sub>2</sub>O). These 5x stocks were aliquoted and kept frozen at -20°C. Working stocks of primers were made by diluting a small aliquot to 10  $\mu$ M to prevent degradation and contamination of primer stocks. PCR using the high fidelity DNA polymerase ExTaq (Takara Bio Inc., Shiga, Japan) was set up according to appendix 1. PCR was performed in a Mastercycler Gradient Cycler, (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) using the cycling conditions in appendix 2.

The PCR product was run on a 0.8% low melting agarose gel and purified using the Wizard SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, WI). The purified PCR product was then ligated into the pGEM-T Easy (Promega, Madison, WI) vector using the conditions in appendix 5 for 2 hours at 25°C. The ligated product was transformed into *E. coli* GC5 competent cells (Genesee Scientific, San Diego, CA) and spread on 1.5% Luria Broth (LB) agar plates containing 150 µg/ml ampicillin, 100 µl of
20 mg/ml 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl- $\beta$ -D-galctopyranoside (X-gal), and 100  $\mu$ l of 100 mM Isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG).

This method allows for a blue-white colony screen in which blue colonies have a functional  $\beta$ -Galactosidase gene allowing hydrolysis of X-gal to 5-bromo-4-chloroindoxyl which is spontaneously oxidized to the bright blue insoluble pigment 5,5'dibromo-4,4'-dichloro-indigo causing these negative colonies to appear blue. White colonies have PCR product inserted into the  $\beta$ -Galactosidase gene causing the positive colonies to appear white. Seven white colonies and one blue colony were screened by colony PCR and re-streaked on 1.5% LB agar plates with 150 µg/ml ampicillin. The colony PCR set up is listed in appendix 4 and was run under the following cycling conditions listed in appendix 5

The colony PCR products were run on a 0.8% agarose gel and were visually screened to confirm a positive product around 1kb (300 bp for vector and 700 bp for insert), the negative product was  $\sim$  300 basepairs. Positive colonies were sequence confirmed with NdeI and XhoI. A positive colony was picked, grown overnight in LB with 150 µg/ml ampicillin and a midi-prep (Wizard Plus, Promega, Madison, WI) was performed to isolate the pGEM-T Easy-POTRA1-3 plasmid.

The pGEM-T Easy-POTRA1-3 vector along with pET-30a were digested with XhoI and NdeI for 90 minutes at 37°C, and enzymes were heat-killed at 65°C for 20 minutes. Digested pET-30a (Promega, Madison, WI) was incubated with 1  $\mu$ l of calf-intestine alkaline phosphatase (CIAP) (Promega, Madison, WI) for 1 hour at 37°C to remove phosphate overhangs to inhibit self-ligation. Digested POTRA1-3 and CIAP

treated pET-30a were run on a 0.8% low melting agarose gel and purified using the Wizard SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, WI). POTRA1-3 was then ligated into the pET-30(a) vector using the conditions in appendix 6 for two hours at 25°C.

The ligation product was transformed into GC5 competent cells and plated on a 1.5% LB agar plate with 30 µg/ml kanamycin. The colony PCR set up is listed in appendix 7 with the only difference that the primers are now T7 Promoter F and T7 Terminator R instead of M 13 F and M 13 R and was run under cycling conditions listed in appendix 8.

The colony PCR products were run on a 0.8% agarose gel and were visually screened to confirm a positive product around 1kb (300 bp for vector and 700 bp for insert), the negative product was  $\sim$ 300 bp. Positive colonies were sequence confirmed with NdeI and XhoI. A positive colony was picked, grown overnight in LB with 30 µg/ml kanamycin and a midi-prep was performed to isolate the pET30a-POTRA1-3 plasmid. This results in a POTRA1-3 protein produced with a 6xHis tag at the C-terminus.

### 2.2 Expression and Purification of Proteins Using the Impact System

Competent *E. coli* ER2566 cells were transformed with pTYB2-SStp*Ps*, pTYB2-POTRA1, or pTYB2-POTRA3 constructs and grown at 37°C with shaking at 225 rpm in three 1L LB flasks with 150  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin to an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.2, the cells were then moved to 25°C and grown until OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.4. IPTG was added to a final concentration of 1 mM for SStp*Ps*, 0.5 mM for POTRAs to induce fusion protein production, and cells

were grown for 14-16 hours. Cells were harvested by centrifugation, and resuspended in 30 ml of Tris buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 0.3% v/v Triton X-100) per liter of cell culture and lysed with three passes through a French Press (Thermo Electron Corporation, Waltham, MA) at an internal pressure of 25,000 psi. The lysate was cleared by centrifugation at 36,000 g for 15 minutes in a Sorvall SS-34 rotor. The supernatant was purified by anion exchange chromotography as described in FPLC Purification section. The flow through was then loaded onto a chitin matrix column (5 ml matrix/liter of cells, New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA) at 1 ml/min. The column was washed with twenty column volumes of ice-cold column buffer (20 mM Na-phosphate pH 9.0, 0.5 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA) to remove unbound proteins. The column was then washed with three column volumes of ice-cold phosphate buffer (1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.17 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.5, for SStpPs) or ice-cold column buffer (for POTRAs) supplemented with 50 mM  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol ( $\beta$ -ME) to induce cleavage of the self-splicing intein tag. The column was then incubated at 4°C for 24 hours. The proteins were eluted with the buffer that they were cleaved in without any additional  $\beta$ -ME in three 6 ml elutions. SStpPs elutions were frozen in liquid nitrogen and lyophilized as a  $\beta$ -ME removal and concentration step. Transit peptide is stored as a lyophilized powder at -80°C. POTRA elutions were dialyzed to remove β-ME, and stored at 4°C. All proteins were analyzed on 19.2% Tris-Tricine gels stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue as described in the gel electrophoresis section to assess purity.

### 2.3 Expression, Purification, and Refolding of POTRA1-3

Competent *E. coli* BL21(DE3) cells were transformed with pET30a-POTRA1-3 and grown at 37°C with shaking at 225 rpm in three 1 L flasks of LB with 30 µg/ml kanamycin to an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.4. IPTG was added to a final concentration of 1 mM to induce his-tagged protein production for 8 hours at 37°C. Cells were harvested by centrifugation, and resuspended in 30 ml of lysis buffer (20 mM sodium phosphate pH 9.0, 0.5 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA). The cells were lysed with three passes through a French Press at an internal pressure of 25,000 psi. The lysate was cleared by centrifugation at 36,000 g for 15 minutes in a Sorvall SS-34 rotor. The pellet was then resuspended via homogenizer with 5 ml of ice-cold denaturing lysis buffer (20 mM sodium phosphate pH 7.8, 0.5 M NaCl, 8 M urea), and centrifuged at 36,000 g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was dialyzed at 25°C for 4 hours with 3 buffer changes of 2 L of column buffer (20 mM sodium phosphate pH 8.0, 0.5 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA).

# **2.4 FPLC Purification of Fusion Proteins**

Supernatant cleared by centrifugation at 36,000 g for 15 minutes in a Sorval SS-34 containing fusion proteins pTYB2-SStp*Ps*, pTYB2-POTRA1, or pTYB2-POTRA3 in ~30 ml of Tris buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 0.3% v/v Triton X-100) was diluted to a total of 300 ml with 10 mM Tris pH 8.0. The diluted supernatant was loaded onto a column containing a matrix of POROS HQ-20 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) using a BioCad perfusion chromatography workstation (S/N 500, SpectraLab Scientific, Ontario, CA). The flow through containing the fusion protein was collected and analyzed by 15% tris-glycine gel. The column was washed and regenerated.

## **2.5 Circular Dichroism of POTRA Domains**

Circular dichroism spectroscopy was performed on an Aviv Series 202 circular dichroism spectrophotometer (Aviv Instruments, Lakewood, NJ). POTRA1, POTRA3, or refolded POTRA1-3 was extensively dialyzed into CD buffer (10 mM potassium phosphate pH 7.0, 50 mM Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>). Final concentration of the proteins was 10 µM for POTRA1 and POTRA3, and 3 µM for POTRA1-3. Circular dichroism spectra were collected at 25°C as 5-second averages at 1 nm intervals from 185 to 285 nm. Three spectra were averaged, corrected for buffer contributions, smoothed, and converted to molar ellipticity using the Aviv software, version 2.71. Deconvolution was performed using the CDPro software with IBase3, a reference set of 37 soluble proteins (Sreerama, N. and R.W. Woody, 2000). From these data the secondary structural features of the POTRA domains were solved by CDPro. CDPro uses three algorithms to deconvolute measured secondary structure: Self-Consistent method for CD analysis, version 3 (Selcon3 - Sreerama N, Venyaminov, et. al. 1999); Contin/LL (Provencher, S. W., and J. Glo"ckner, 1981); CDSSTR (Johnson. W.C., Jr. 1999).

### **2.6 MALDI-TOF of POTRAs**

POTRA3 and POTRA1-3 were analyzed by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry to confirm purity, size, and correct cleavage. MALDI-TOF MS was performed with a Bruker Daltonics Microflex<sup>TM</sup> mass spectrometer, with  $\beta$ -chain insulin, ubiquitin I, cytochrome C, and  $\beta$ -chain myoglobin used as an internal mass standard for calibration with POTRA3; trypsinogen, protein A, and bovine serum albumin used as external mass standards for calibration with POTRA1-3. Lyophilized standard protein was resuspended to a final concentration of 50  $\mu$ M in 10  $\mu$ l of 50% (v/v) acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) trifluoroacetic acid. POTRA3 and standards were mixed with 10  $\mu$ l of 60% (v/v) CHCA ( $\alpha$ -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) with 1% (v/v) nitrocellulose, POTRA1-3 and standards were mixed with 10  $\mu$ l of 60% (v/v) sinapinic acid (3-(4-hydroxy-3,5dimethoxyphenyl)prop-2-enoic acid, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Plates were spotted with 1 µl of the mixtures and dried thoroughly in a vacuum dessicator overnight at room temperature. Mass spectra were acquired in positive ion mode using 300 nitrogen laser pulses/spectrum. The resulting mass/charge data was analyzed using the FindPept program, which is freely accessible on the web at http://ca.expasy.org/tools/findpept.html. Users are able to enter predicted amino acid sequence and possible modifications along with the mass/charge values measured by MS to identify the peptide (intact or fragmented) that correspond to the experimentally obtained mass/charge values.

#### 2.7 Plant Growth and Chloroplast Isolation

Dry dwarf pea (*Pisum sativum* progress number 9) seeds (approximately 200 ml/flat) were imbibed overnight with aeration and planted in autoclaved horticultural vermiculite in 12 x 24 x 5 inch flats. Plants were grown in environmental growth

chambers (EGC, Chagrin Falls, OH) with 160 µE/m2/sec cool white fluorescent light at 28°C during day and 25°C during night. Plants were grown using a 8 hr light/16 hr dark cycle to help reduce starch accumulation for 14 days. Leaves were harvested at the end of a dark cycle and chopped in a Cuisinart food processor with 2 second bursts until they were reduced to pieces no larger than 5-6 mm. The leaf tissue was then suspended with (3 x volume per weight of leaves harvested) ice-cold grinding buffer (GB: 330 mM Sorbitol, 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2 mM MnCl<sub>2</sub>, 4 mM EDTA, 0.2% w/v BSA, 50 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.3) and homogenized with 4 cycles of 3-second bursts with a Polytron. The lysed tissue was then filtered through 2 layers of cheesecloth and 2 layers of MiraCloth. The filtrate was centrifuged at 900 g for 5 minutes in a Sorvall GS-3 swinging bucket rotor using a Sorvall RC26 Plus centrifuge at 4°C to pellet the chloroplasts. The chloroplasts were gently resuspended in 5 ml of ice-cold import buffer (IB: 330 mM Sorbitol, 50 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 8.0) and gently layered on top an 80%:40% percoll (in IB) step gradient (2 ml of 80% percoll at the bottom of a 15 ml falcon tube carefully overlayed with 4 ml of 40% percoll). Chloroplast loaded gradients were centrifuged at 3,400 g for 15 minutes at 4°C with 60% maximum acceleration and deceleration. Intact chloroplasts were collected from the interface of the step gradient with a large-bore syringe needle, and to remove percoll were diluted to a final volume of 14 ml with IB. The chloroplastcontaining solution was centrifuged at 900 g for 5 minutes at 4°C to pellet the chloroplasts. The chloroplasts were gently resuspended in 5 ml of ice-cold IB and the gradient centrifugation step was repeated. After chloroplasts were centrifuged at 900 g for 5 minutes at 4°C, resuspended in a total volume of 1.5 ml of IB with 2% BSA and the

chloroplast suspension was diluted to a final total chlorophyll concentration of 1.0 mg/ml with IB with 2% BSA.

### 2.8 Chlorophyll Measurement

Chlorophyll concentration was measured by chlorophyll extraction with 990  $\mu$ l of 80% acetone and 10  $\mu$ l of chloroplast suspension. Acetone suspension was vortexed and centrifuged at 20,000 g for 1 minute in a microcentrifuge to remove debris. Absorbance measurements were taken at 663 nm for chlorophyll a and 645 nm for chlorophyll b and used to calculate total chlorophyll content using the following equation (Arnon, D. 1949).

Chlorophyll (mg/ml) = 
$$\frac{((8.02 \text{ x } A_{663}) + (20.2 \text{ x } A_{645}))}{0.01 \text{ ml x } 1000 \text{ } \mu\text{g/mg}} \text{ x 1 ml}$$

Chlorophyll measurement was averaged for two samples of chloroplast suspension in acetone.

## 2.9 Protein Measurement

Protein concentrations of all POTRA domains, B2Ims, and SStp*Ps* were determined using the BCA (bicinchoninic acid) reagents (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Bovine serum albumin (BSA, Pierce, Rockford, IL) was used as the protein standard for all protein concentration assays. Protein solutions that had concentrations of DTT or  $\beta$ -ME too high for the BCA assay to correctly measure were precipitated by the Compat-Able kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) and resuspended in a buffer compatible with the standard BCA assay.

### 2.10 Gel Electrophoresis and Staining

All proteins were added to 4 x sample solubilizing buffer (4 x SSB, 400 mM DTT, 40 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 20% glycerol, 4% SDS) vortexed and boiled for 3 minutes. POTRA1, POTRA3, SStpPs, and B2Ims are less than 10,000 daltons, and a 19.2% Tris-Tricine gel (Schagger, H. and G. von Jagow, 1987) that gives much better resolution of low molecular weight species was used to visualize these smaller samples. A gel casting apparatus used was 0.75 mM thick spacer plates and short plates from the Protean-3 system (Bio-Rad Hercules, CA). Recipes for the resolving, separating, and stacking gel can be found in appendix 9. All three solutions are prepared and the 10% w/v ammonium persulfate (APS) and tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) are added to the resolving solution, the resolving solution is then mixed and 2.5 ml is poured. TEMED and APS are added to the separating solution, mixed and 850 µl of separating gel is poured. Isopropanol is layered on top of the separating solution and the gels are allowed to polymerize (this usually takes  $\sim 5$  minutes). After polymerization the isopropanol is removed and the stacking solution is mixed with APS and TEMED. The mixture is poured until the solution is at the top of the short plate. A comb is then inserted into the stacking solution and the gel is allowed to polymerize (this usually takes  $\sim 2$  minutes.) The outer chamber is filled with anode buffer (0.2 M Tris-HCl pH 8.9) and the inner chamber is filled with cathode buffer (0.1 M Tris-HCl pH 8.25, 0.1 M Tricine, 0.1% SDS). The gels are run at 100 V until the bromophenol blue reaches the bottom (usually  $\sim$  3 hours) before they are removed and either stained or used for Western blotting.

Fusion proteins and POTRA1-3 are all 30,000 daltons or larger and were run using a 15% acrylamide resolving and 5% acrylamide stacking gel using a Tris-glycine system. The resolving solution is mixed with APS and TEMED and 3.2 ml is poured, overlaid with isopropanol and allowed to polymerize (this takes ~ 5 minutes). After polymerization the isopropanol is removed and the stacking solution is mixed with TEMED and APS and poured until the solution is at the top of the short plate. A comb is then inserted into the stacking solution and the gel is allowed to polymerize (this takes ~ 2 minutes). The inner and outer chambers are filled with SDS Running buffer (25 mM Tris, 275 mM glycine, (added until pH is 8.3) 0.1% SDS). Gels are run at 20 mA/gel until the bromophenol blue reaches the bottom (usually ~ 1.5 hours) before they are removed for staining or Western blotting.

After gels were run they were incubated in Coomassie stain (10% acetic acid, 50% methanol, 0.25% Coomassie Brilliant Blue R 250) for 30 minutes. They were incubated in destain (10% acetic acid, 50% methanol) for 30 minutes. If a more sensitive staining technique was needed then silver staining (Heukshoren, J., and R. Demick, 1985) was performed. The proteins are fixed to the gel for 1 hour (with 2 buffer changes) with destain on an orbital mixer, they are then washed in ddH<sub>2</sub>O for 30 minutes (with 2 buffer changes). The gel is exposed to silver nitrate (6 mM AgNO<sub>3</sub>) for 30 minutes and rinsed with ddH<sub>2</sub>O for 15 seconds. The gel is developed in developing buffer (236 mM Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, 0.02% formaldehyde) for 15 minutes and washed in ddH<sub>2</sub>O for 20 minutes (with 1 buffer change). The gel is reduced with Farmer's reducer (12 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, 685  $\mu$ M K<sub>3</sub>Fe(CN)<sub>6</sub>) for 45 minutes, and washed with ddH<sub>2</sub>O for 15 minutes (with 2 buffer

changes). The gel is then stained with silver nitrate again for 30 minutes and rinsed with  $ddH_2O$  for 15 seconds. The gel was incubated with developer and stopped when the signal was optimal by changing the buffer to 5% acetic acid.

### 2.11 Antibodies and Western Blotting

Rabbit antibodies against POTRA1 and POTRA3 were generated by Agriseria Inc. (Sweden) from lyophilized protein purified in our lab. Immobilon PVDF membrane (Millipore, Billerica, MA) was marked with a number 2 pencil and then activated in 100% methanol for 2 minutes and then soaked in transfer buffer (48 mM Tris, 390 mM glycine, (20% methanol - only used for Tris-glycine gels)) for at least 5 minutes. Gels were run with pre-stained markers (EZ-Run Prestained, Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ; or SeeBlue, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Proteins were transferred to the pre-soaked PVDF using a Genie transfer apparatus (Idea Scientific, Minneapolis, MN) at 24 V for 1.5 hours at 4°C. The blots were removed from the apparatus and incubated with Tris Buffered Saline with Tween-20 (TBST, 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 137 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 0.1% v/v Tween-20) containing 3% w/v non-fat milk (NFM) with rocking for 1 hour at room temperature (2 buffer changes). Blots were then incubated for 1 hour with 1:25,000 primary antibody : TBST-NFM with rocking. Blots were then washed with TBST-NFM for 30 minutes (with 2 buffer changes), and then incubated with 1:50,000 secondary antibody : TBST-NFM for 1 hour. Secondary antibodies used were donkey-anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase conjugated (DAR-HRP) (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). The blots were then washed 2 times with TBST alone and once with TBS for 5 minutes each.

The blots were then incubated with 1 ml total volume of a 1:1 mix of HRP substrate and Luminol (Millipore) for 5 minutes. The blots were then captured using a Chemidoc XRS (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) for 1.5 hours taking images every 15 minutes. The blots were analyzed with Quantity One software version 4.4 (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA), and bands were quantitated by photon counting.

## 2.12 Chemical Crosslinking

Using the homobifunctional crosslinker bismaleimidohexane (BMH, Pierce, Rockford IL ) that reacts with thiol groups, POTRA1 and SStp*Ps* could be specifically and positionally chemically crosslinked through a cysteine residue each protein possesses. POTRA3 and B2Ims crosslinking has to be done with glutaraldehyde because neither possess a cysteine. 100  $\mu$ l reactions BMH crosslinking were run for 1 hour at room temperature in PBS pH 7.2 (1.47 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 4.3 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 2.7 mM KCl, 137 mM NaCl) with 5 mM EDTA and 1 mM tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine (TCEP) and quenched with 5 mM DTT was done with the following set up :

| POTRA1 (µM) | 10 | 0   | 10  | 10  |
|-------------|----|-----|-----|-----|
| SStpPs (µM) | 0  | 100 | 100 | 100 |
| BMH         | -  | -   | -   | +   |

Glutaraldehyde (Pierce, Rockford, IL) crosslinking was performed with POTRA1, POTRA3, SStp*Ps*, and B2Ims. 100  $\mu$ l Crosslinking reactions were performed reactions for 5 minutes at room temperature in PBS pH 7.2, and quenched with 10 mM final volume Tris-HCl pH 8.0 with the following set up:

| POTRA (µM)   | 5 | 0 | 5 | 0 | 5 | 5  | 5  | 10 | 10 | 10 | 10 |
|--------------|---|---|---|---|---|----|----|----|----|----|----|
| Peptide (µM) | 0 | 5 | 0 | 5 | 5 | 25 | 50 | 0  | 5  | 10 | 25 |
| GA (0.1%)    | - | - | + | + | + | +  | +  | +  | +  | +  | +  |

(peptide is either SStp*Ps* or B2Ims)

All reaction products were mixed with 4 x SSB and run on a Tris-Tricine gel system to visualize oligomers via silver staining or Western Blot.

### 2.13 Fusion Protein – Transit Peptide Pulldown Assay

Chitin matrix (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA) was used to co-purify POTRA1-fusion or POTRA3-fusion with SStp*Ps* or B2Ims. An N-terminal POTRA domain expressed as a protein with a self-splicing intein domain connected to a Cterminal chitin binding domain (fusion protein) (0.5 mg of 80% pure) purified by FPLC was flowed through a chitin column by gravity flow (chitin columns with only the intein tag and chitin binding domain of the fusion protein were used as a negative control). The columns were then washed with 10 column volumes of column buffer (20 mM Naphosphate pH 9.0, 0.5 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA) to remove unbound proteins. Columns were then incubated with 0.5 mg of SStp*Ps* or B2Ims for a negative control for 1.5 hours at 25°C. Columns were washed with 5 column volumes of column buffer with 50  $\mu$ M  $\beta$ -ME and left with one-half column volume for cleavage overnight at 4°C. The column was eluted the following day and the elutant was mixed with 4 x SSB and ran on Tris-Tricine gels for silver-staining and Western blotting.

### 2.14 Analytical Ultracentrifugation

Analytical ultracentrifugation (AUC) analysis was used to follow the formation of POTRA homodimers and POTRA : Transit Peptide heterodimers. A Beckman Optima XL-1 analytical ultracentrifuge with both absorbance and interference optical detection systems was used to analyze sedimentation velocities. All samples were extensively dialyzed into AUC buffer (20 mM sodium phosphate pH 8.0, 50 mM NaCl) using Slide-A-Lyzer minidialysis units (Pierce, Rockford, IL) with a molecular weight cut-off (MWCO) of 3,500 daltons. For all experiments, dialysate was used as the reference buffer and loaded into the reference sector of the centerpiece. Sample cells were loaded into the rotor, placed in the ultra centrifuge, and allowed to equilibrate under vacuum to 25°C for 1 hour. Samples were centrifuged at 50,000 rpm and data was collected using interference optics and/or absorbace at 280 nm. Data was analyzed by SedFit (Schuck 2000), allowing baseline, fit RI noise, fit time independent noise to float. The confidence level used was 0.80, and the resolution was 200.

### 2.15 Purification of prSSUNt & mSSUNt from Inclusion Bodies

Competent *E. coli* (BL21-DE3) cells were transformed with pET11-prSSU or pET11-mSSU constructs (Klein and Salvucci 1992). A transformed colony was grown in 1 L of LB at 37°C with shaking at 225 rpm until a cell density of OD<sub>600</sub> was 0.6 was reached. The cells were induced with 1 mM IPTG and grown for 6 hours. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation and resuspended in ice-cold buffer A (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>). All constructs produced in this system are found primarily in inclusion bodies, allowing for easy purification (Reddick et al. 2008). Cells were lysed with 3

passes through a French Press at an internal pressure of 25,000 psi followed by centrifugation at 36,000 g for 20 minutes in a Sorvall SS 34 rotor. Inclusion bodies were isolated to homogeneity by 3 rounds of washing in buffer A with 0.1% Triton X-100 followed by 3 washes in buffer A without detergent. Pellets were resuspended with a dounce homogenizer and centrifuged at 36,000 g for 10 minutes in a Sorvall SS 34 after each wash. The final purified inclusion body pellets were then solubilized in urea buffer (8 M urea, 50 mM DTT, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0). Remaining impurities were removed by centrifugation at 36,000 g for 30 minutes. The concentrations of purified proteins were determined by BCA Compat-Able kit as described in the protein measurement section below, and stored at -80°C.

#### 2.16 In Vivo Radiolabeling of WT prSSUNt

Precursor of the small subunit of rubisco of *Nicotiana tabacum* (prSSU*Nt*) was radiolabeled with <sup>35</sup>S by performing cell growth in methionine and cysteine-deficient DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified EAGLES Medium, MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA). Cells were grown in LB until a cell density of  $OD_{600}$  0.5 was reached, they were then pelleted, washed, and resuspended in Met-Cys-deficient DMEM. Cells were allowed to deplete any remaining methionine and/or cysteine supply by growth in Met-Cys-deficient DMEM for 2 hours, and induced using 1 mM IPTG. 200 µCi/ 5 ml of culture of Tran<sup>35</sup>S-Label (MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA) was added to the cells 15 minutes after induction. The <sup>35</sup>S is added after 15 minutes after induction to ensure most of the labeled cysteine and methionine is incorporated into the prSSU*Nt* instead of the T7 RNA polymerase, which is also induced at high levels with the addition of IPTG. Induction

was continued for 3 hours with the Tran<sup>35</sup>S-cysteine and methionine Label being the only source of methionine and cysteine, forcing incorporation of the labeled amino acids into proteins translated after induction. <sup>35</sup>S labeled prSSU*Nt* was purified from inclusion bodies in the same manner as previously described, with the following changes. Cells were lysed with a probe sonicator (Misonix Sonic 550 probe ultrasonicator, Paulton, UK) on ice for 2 minutes total sonication time using a cycle of 5 seconds on and 10 seconds off. The specific activity was calculated and corrected for the purity of the protein as determined by Strom PhosphoImager (GE Healthcare, UK) of a 20-10% gradient Trisglycine gel.

# 2.17 In Vitro Chloroplast Import Competition Assay

Chloroplasts are diluted to 2 mg/ml directly before the *In vitro* chloroplast import competition assay. Competition of import of <sup>35</sup>S-prSSU*Nt* was performed in 300 µl reaction with freshly isolated intact chloroplasts at 25 µg/ml chlorophyll final concentration and 100 nM final concentration of labeled <sup>35</sup>S-prSSU*Nt*. The concentration of the unlabeled competitors were varied at 0, 200, 500, 1,000, 2,000, 3,000, and 5,000 nM for 1 experiment and 0, 100, 200, 500, 700, 1,000, 1,500, and 2,000 nM for another 2 experiments. The reaction was supplemented with 2 mM of Mg-ATP from a freshly prepared 100 mM stock, and performed in the presence of 300 mM urea with 10 mM DTT. BSA was present at 0.5% in a final concentration, and the reactions were performed in IB. The assay was started by adding chloroplasts to the assembled import mixture and was incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes with occasional mixing to keep the chloroplasts suspended. The reaction was stopped with the addition of 700 µL of ice-cold IB, and the tubes were placed on ice. Intact chloroplasts were re-isolated by layering the reactions on top of 700 µl of 40% percoll and centrifugation at 3,500 g for 5 minutes. The supernatant is removed and the chloroplasts are gently resuspended with 1 ml of ice-cold IB, 50 µl is saved for quantitation by BCA and the rest is centrifuged at 12,000 g for 1 minute. The pellet is resuspended in 100 µl of 2 x SSB and boiled for 3 minutes. Samples were brought to equal protein concentration by adding SSB; the volume added was determined by the BCA results. Samples were run at 6 mA per gel on 10-20% gradient Tris-glycine gels until the chlorophyll band is roughly 3 cm from the bottom of the gel (usually 12-15 hours). Gels were dried on a gel-dryer and placed on storage Phosphor screens (GE Healthcare, UK) for around 30 hours. Visualization was accomplished by scanning the screens with the Storm PhosphorImager (GE Healthcare, UK) and quantification of band intensity was performed using ImageQuant analysis software (GE Healthcare, UK).

# **Chapter 3 Results**

### **3.1 Introduction**

With the vast majority of chloroplast proteins coded for in the nucleus (Abdullah et al. 2000; Martin et al. 2002) and cytosolically translated, the chloroplast is faced with protein trafficking problem. This logistics problem is solved via N-terminal transit peptide sequences present on precursor proteins destined for the chloroplast (Chua and Schmidt 1978), and two sets of translocation machinery at the outer and inner envelopes of the chloroplast membrane (TOC and TIC respectively) (Blobel 1980; Cline 2000). The TOC complex is responsible for transport of precursor proteins through the outer membrane of the chloroplast (Hirsch et al. 1994; Schnell et al. 1994). The core TOC complex is comprised of Toc159, Toc34, and Toc75 (Bolter et al. 1998; Schnell et al. 1994; Seedorf et al. 1995). Toc159 and Toc34 are GTPases and the initial receptors for the precursor protein. The most prevalent protein in the outer envelope of the chloroplast is Toc75. Mature Toc75 has an C-terminal pore domain through which the precursor proteins are transported (Hinnah et al. 1997; Schnell et al. 1994) and an N-terminal domain consisting of three N-terminal POTRA domain repeats (Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003), which are thought to help with either TOC core assembly or precursor protein import (Ertel et al. 2005).

POTRA domains are present in the Omp85/TPS superfamily, and have been shown to be involved in the assembly of  $\beta$ -barrel proteins in the outer membranes or the translocation of proteins through outer membranes of mitochondria, chloroplasts and gram-negative bacteria (Delattre et al. 2011; Gentle et al. 2004; Gentle et al. 2005;

Knowles et al. 2009; Moslavac et al. 2005; Paschen et al. 2003; Reumann et al. 1999; Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003; Voulhoux et al. 2003). All members of the Omp85/TPS superfamily possess between one and seven POTRA domains (Arnold et al. 2010; Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003). POTRA domains have been shown to specifically interact with parts of substrate proteins that interact with the Omp85/TPS that they belong to (Clantin et al. 2007; Hodak et al. 2006). The secondary sequence of POTRA domains was both predicted (Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003) and shown by crystallization and/or NMR of POTRA domains of BamA (Kim et al. 2007), FhaC (Clantin et al. 2007), FtsQ (van den Ent et al. 2008), Thermosynechococcus elongatus Omp85 (TeOmp85) (Arnold et al. 2010), and Anabaena Omp85 (AnaOmp85) (Koenig et al. 2010) to have a conserved structure, which was experimentally determined to have the consensus  $\beta - \alpha - \alpha$ - $\beta$ - $\beta$ . While certain POTRA domains are essential for cell viability, e.g. POTRA5 of Omp85 in Neisseria meningitidis (Bos et al. 2007), deletion of any of them show a decrease in function of the protein machinery they are part of or a decrease in cell viability (Bos et al. 2007; Bredemeier et al. 2007; Clantin et al. 2007; Ertel et al. 2005; Habib et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2007).

### 3.2 Generation of POTRA2-His and POTRA1-3-His

The first step towards in vitro testing of homotypic and heterotypic interactions of POTRA domains is to produce POTRA domains recombinantly. Toc75, and more specifically POTRA2 and POTRA3 were modeled after POTRA1 and POTRA2 of the TpsB exporter of FhaC (Clantin et al. 2004), and POTRA1 was predicted by sequence alignment (Dave, A. 2010). POTRA1, POTRA2, POTRA3, and POTRA1-3 (POTRA1,

POTRA2, and POTRA3 all expressed as one peptide) had already been cloned and inserted into pTYB2 by Ashita Dave in our lab (Dave, A. 2010). The DNA sequence for POTRA2 incorporated many rare codons, and a synthetic gene was synthesized to allow codon-optimization for *E. coli* expression by Ashita Dave (Dave, A. 2010).

Our modeling suggest that Toc75 POTRA2 is much larger than any other POTRA domains (Figure 1.5). The initial POTRA domain predictions done in our lab (Dave, A. 2010) included a twenty-two-residue linker between POTRA1 and POTRA2. In analyzing all structurally solved POTRA domains, typically the linker between adjacent POTRA domains was between two and four amino acids long, and almost always included a proline or a glycine. This analysis of conserved linkers led to the amendment of our POTRA domain model and the majority of the initial, yet improperly assigned, linker residues were included in POTRA2. Figure 3.1 shows a schematic representation of the different POTRA domains. DNA coding for POTRA2 and POTRA1-3 was amplified via PCR, cut with NdeI and XhoI, and ligated into identically cut pET-30(a).

Colony PCR screens confirmed POTRA1-3 (Figure 3.2) and POTRA2 (not shown) were successfully inserted into pET-30(a). PsT75(P2)PET30 and PsT75(P1-3)PET30 were transformed into competent *E.coli* BL21(DE3) cells, with protein expression induced with IPTG. POTRA1-3-His is almost totally insoluble, but can been purified and refolded from inclusion bodies.

Production of POTRA2 and POTRA1-3 proved very difficult using the IMPACT system. POTRA2 could not be expressed at a detectable level (Figure 3.3). POTRA1-3 could be expressed at a very low level (Figure 3.4), but was insoluble in all conditions



В

LLGRLSGFKKYKISDILFFDRNKKSKVETQDSFLDMVSLKPGGVYTKAQLQ KELESLATCGMFEKVDMEGKTNADGSLGLTISFAESMWERADRFRCINVGL MGQSKPVEMDPDMSEKEKIEFFRRQEREYKRRISSARPCLLPTSVHEEIKD MLAEQGRVSARLLQKIRDRVQSWYHEEGYACAQVVNFGNLNTREVVCEVVE GDITKLSIQYLDKLGNVVEGNTEGPVVQRELPKQLLPGHTFNIEAGKQALR NINSLALFSNIEVNPRPDEMNEGSIIVEIKLKELEQKSAEVSTEWSIVPGR GGRPTLASLQPGGTITFEHRNLQGLNRSLTGSVTTSNFLNPQDDLAFKMEY AHPYLDGVDNPRNRTLRVSCFNSRKLSPVFTGGPGVDEVPSIWVDRAGVKA NITENFSRQSKFTYGLVMEEIITRDESNHICSNGQRVLPNGAISADGPPTT LSGTGIDRMAFLQANITRDNTRFVNGTIVGSRNMFQVDQGLGVGSNFPFFN RHQLTVTKFLQLMSVEEGAGKSPPPVLVLHGHYGGCVGDLPSYDAFTLGGP YSVRGYNMGEIGAARNILELAAEIRIPIKGTHVYAFAEHGTDLGSSKDVKG NPTVVYRRMGQGSSYGAGMKLGLVRAEYAVDHNSGTGAVFFRFGERF

# Figure 3.1 POTRA Domains and Colony PCR of POTRA1-3

A) Mature *Ps*Toc75 schematic with POTRA and the  $\beta$ -barrel are represented and labeled with their size in residues. B) The mature sequence is listed below the cartoon POTRA1-2 is 204, POTRA2-3 is 201, and POTRA1-3 is 288 residues. B2IMS is part of the beta barrel and is underlined, and is 70 residues.



# Figure 3.2 Colony PCR of POTRA1-3

Colony PCR confirmation of eleven positively inserted POTRA1-3 colonies into the pET-30(a) vector. Lane M is a 1kb marker, and lanes 1-11 are colonies screened for the insert (\*). The expected size of the insert is 1084 bp.



# Figure 3.3 POTRA2-pTYB2 Production Problems

Lane M is EZ-run pre-stained standards. Lane P2 is lysed *E.coli* cells expressing POTRA2-pTYB2. POTRA2 is a minority species of the proteins produced by the cells.



Figure 3.4 POTRA1-3-pTYB2 Purification Failure

Gel A shows insoluble (Ins) and soluble (Sol) fractions of lysed *E. coli* expressing POTRA1-3-pTYB2. Gel B shows the elutions (Elu) of the soluble fraction of gel A. M is EZ-run prestained standards. The P1-3 fusion is represented by the \*, and is eluted in gel B.

(varied cell lines: BL21(DE3), BL21(DE3-RIL), ER2566, C41, C43; growth temperature: 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 37°C; [IPTG]: 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1.0 mM; growth time: 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 12, 16 H; media: LB, TB, SV). The insoluble POTRA1-3-pTYB2 could not be refolded before cleavage, and cleavage would not work with unfolded protein. A denatured fusion protein would have neither a chitin-binding domain, which is a conformation dependent interaction, nor an intein domain capable of self-splicing. This led to a decision to change to a new expression system, pET-30(a), a C-terminal 6x-His tag system, in an attempt to make usable amounts of POTRA2 and POTRA1-3. This system may allow refolding of the POTRA domains with less interference of the fusion tag (the intein and chitin tag are 55 kDa, and the 6xHis tag is 1kDa).

#### **3.3 Production of Purified, Folded POTRA Domains**

After purification either by Intein cleavage (POTRA1, POTRA3, Figure 3.5) or 6x-His tag (POTRA2, POTRA1-3, Figure 3.6) purified POTRA domains (Figure 3.7 A) were analyzed for intact secondary structure by CD (Figure 3.7 B). Deconvolution of CD spectra showed that all recombinant Toc75 POTRA domains possessed secondary structure, and that most were comparable to structurally solved POTRA domains (Figure 3.8). It is interesting to note that the percentage of alpha helix of Toc75 POTRA1, POTRA3, and POTRA1-3 is lower than the averaged solved POTRA domains and the random coil is higher. The higher ordered structure in solved POTRA domains could be a side effect of crystallization, or just structural differences between plant and bacterial POTRA domains. Initial CD suggests that POTRA2 does have a secondary structure,



# Figure 3.5 POTRA3-pTYB2 Purification Profile

Total lysate (Tot), insoluble fraction (Pel), soluble fraction (Sup), flow-through 1 and 2 (FT1, FT2), and wash (W) of a pOTRA3-pTYB2 prep are run on a 15% tris-glycine SDS-PAGE. M is EZ-run pre-stained marker. The P3-fusion protein is represented by the species with the molecular weight at \*.



# Figure 3.6 POTRA1-3 Purification Profile

Lane 1 is total lysate, lane 2 is supernatant, lane 3 is pellet. M lanes are EZ-run prestained standard. Lane 4 is the supernatant after dialysis, lane 5 is the flow through of a his-pure nickel-NTA column, lane 6 is column wash with 0 mM imidazole, lane 7 is column wash with 25 mM imidazole, lane 8 is column wash with 100 mM imidazole, and lane 9 is column wash with 250 mM imidazole. POTRA1-3 is represented by band with the same molecular weight as the \*.





A) SDS-PAGE was performed with purified fractions of POTRA1, POTRA2, POTRA3, and POTRA1-3. B) CD Spectra for individual POTRA domains and POTRA1-3.



Figure 3.8 Secondary Structure of POTRA Domains

The results for all individual POTRA domains as well as POTRA1-3 are compared to the average secondary composition of sixteen structurally solved POTRA domains.

although it differs greatly from the other Toc75 and other structurally solved POTRA domains, with twice as much alpha-helix and half as much beta-strand as the other POTRA domains. This could be due to the large size of POTRA2, which is 45% larger than the other two POTRA domains.

The purified recombinant POTRA domains were analyzed by MALDI-TOF to confirm their predicted molecular weights (Figure 3.9) of 9667, 14502, 9252, and 33755 Da; for POTRA1, POTRA2, POTRA3, and POTRA1-3. The observed weights of 9745, 14489, 9242, 33702 Da (2 x 16851) corresponded closely to the predicted weights. POTRA1 was 78 Da larger than predicted, which can be explained by an addition of beta-mercaptoethanol (76 Da), a covalent modification common with  $\beta$ ME induced fusion cleavage. The predicted and measured masses of POTRA2 and POTRA3 correspond well. The plus-two species of POTRA1-3 is 26.5 Da smaller than predicted mass of the plus-two species, and this error is less that 0.2%

### **3.4 Oligomerization of POTRA Domains**

Because the TOC core complex is a hetero-oligomer (Figure 1.3) of Toc75, Toc34, and Toc159 it is possible that the Toc75 subunits interact with each other to form the complex. A goal of this work is to determine if the POTRA domains, alone, have any ability to oligomerize *in vitro* with itself or with transit peptide. To ascertain whether or not POTRA domains have this ability chemical crosslinking, analytical ultracentrifugation, and pull-down assays are employed.



# Figure 3.9 MALDI-TOF Spectra for POTRA Domains

Shown are MALDI-TOF analyses of POTRA1, POTRA2, POTRA3, and POTRA1-3.

The first experiment performed to check PsToc75 POTRA domain interactions was chemical crosslinking. Glutaraldehyde is a homo-bifunctional, amine-amine, crosslinker whose reaction with proteins is essentially irreversible (Richards and Knowles 1968). The glutaraldehyde cross-linking reaction is non-specific with respect to amines used, but it cross-links peptides that interact with each other at a much higher rate than non-reactive peptides (Richards and Knowles 1968). POTRA1 and POTRA3 were tested for cross-linking alone with glutaraldehyde to check their ability to homo-oligomerize (Figure 3.10). As can be seen from Figure 3.10A, POTRA1 forms homo-oligomers much more readily than POTRA3. In fact, species of homo-dimers (D), trimers (Tri), and tetramers (Tet) are present in the POTRA1-glutaraldehyde reaction (Figure 3.9, P1+), while only a faint homo-dimer (D) is detected in the POTRA3-glutaraldehyde reaction (P3+). The monomer (M) of POTRA1 seems to cross-link to itself more than POTRA3 does as well. The S species is the cleaved fusion protein chitin-binding domain and intein-tag together that seems to cross-link to itself or to other POTRA domains. There is a high level cross-linked oligomer present in P1+ that may be contaminant cross-linked to POTRA1 or a very large POTRA1 oligomer. This experiment has shown that POTRA1 homo-oligomerizes in vitro much more easily than POTRA3 does, meaning that it could have a unique role among the Toc75 POTRA domains.





POTRA1 forms discrete homo-oligomers in the presence of Ga (P1+), while POTRA3 does not homo-oligomerize to the same extent (P3+) or in discrete units. A dimer (D), trimer (Tri), and tetramer (Tet) are very clear, with the dimer being the most present species in the crosslinked POTRA1 (P1+). All three classes are much less represented in the crosslinked POTRA3 (P3+), with the trimer and tetramer not even clearly visible and the monomer still the most present species. There is a shift in the monomer (M) of both P1+ and P3+, where the POTRA domain cross-linked to itself. There are also high molecular weight species (S) of intein and chitin binding domain of cleaved fusion protein P1- and P3- and cross-linked in P1+ and P3+. There is present a very high oligomer (H) in the P1+.

# 3.5 POTRA1 Transit Peptide Crosslinking

After observing the homo-oligomeric interactions of POTRA1 with chemical crosslinking, the same technique was employed to try and illuminate hetero-oligomeric interactions between POTRA1 and transit peptide. Because glutaraldehyde (GA) is a nonspecific cross-linker, it was used to try and elucidate POTRA domain interactions with transit peptide. POTRA1 (Figure 3.11) or POTRA3 (Figure 3.12) were cross-linked alone, or in the presence of SStpPs. POTRA1 is present in all monomeric form at 5 µM without glutaraldehyde present, and it forms homo-oligomers at 5 and 10 µM when crosslinked with glutaraldehyde. A pentamer is detected with the 10  $\mu$ M POTRA1 + GA alone (lane 7, Pent). However, upon addition of TP, the ordered oligomers are disrupted, and a large smear is present (lanes 5, 6, and 10). At molar ratios of 5:1, a hetero-dimer of POTRA1-SStpPs (lanes 5 and 6, HD) can be detected. TP forms a large oligomer (lane 3, <sup>^</sup>) when cross-linked alone, but this species disappears when the concentration of POTRA1 increases. These new interactions could be due to the higher concentration of TP outcompeting POTRA1 self-oligomerization. This experiment has shown that POTRA1 hetero-oligomerizes with transit peptide in vitro, and that this interaction can interfere with the ability of POTRA1 to homo-oligomerize. This could mean a role for substrate interaction for POTRA1.

## 3.6 POTRA3 Transit Peptide Crosslinking

Although POTRA3 did not homo-oligomerize well, chemical cross-linking was employed to determine whether or not POTRA3 could hetero-oligomerize with transit



Figure 3.11 Western-Blot Analysis of POTRA1-SStpPs Gluteraldehyde Crosslinking

POTRA1 (red) and SStp*Ps* (TP, blue) both form a monomer (M) alone without Ga (\*). P1 forms dimers (D), trimers (Tri), tetramers (Tet), and pentamers (Pent) when cross-linked alone at 5  $\mu$ M (#) and at 10  $\mu$ M. TP forms a large oligomer at around 55 kDa (^) when cross-linked alone. S is a large oligomeric smear that seems to have P1 and TP present in it, and C is a large complex consisting of P1 and TP.



# Figure 3.12 Western-Blot Analysis of POTRA3-SStpPs Gluteraldehyde Crosslinking

POTRA3 (green) and SStp*Ps* (TP, blue) both form a monomer (M) alone without Ga (\*). P3 aggregates into a large oligomeric smear (O-C) when cross-linked alone (#). P3 forms homo-dimers (D) at 10  $\mu$ M, in the presence of TP. TP forms a large oligomer at around 55 kDa (^) when cross-linked alone (#). HD is a hetero-dimer of P3 and TP. O, H, and C are large oligomeric complexes that consist of P3 and TP.
peptide. POTRA3 was also cross-linked with GA alone and with TP (Fig 3.13). At 5  $\mu$ M without GA POTRA3 is all monomer (lane 2), and when GA is added large oligomers (lane 3, O, H) are formed, and the monomer is still present. The large oligomers O and H may be un-cleaved and cleaved (respectively) fusion POTRA3, whatever it is it is recognized by antibodies against TP even when there is no TP in the reaction (lane 7, O, H) Addition of TP does not interfere with the species of POTRA3 present when POTRA3 is at 5  $\mu$ M (lanes 3-5). It seems that at higher concentrations of POTRA3 10  $\mu$ M, and TP 10 or 25  $\mu$ M a homo-dimer of POTRA3 (lanes 9, 10; D) and a hetero-dimer of POTRA3-SStp*Ps* (lanes 9, 10; HD) are formed. This is completely opposite of the effect that TP had on POTRA1 and TP seems to promote homo-dimerization of POTRA3 at higher concentrations. This experiment shows that POTRA3 can interact with transit peptide *in vitro* and that perhaps the role of the POTRA3 domain in plant Toc75 has something to do with substrate interaction.

#### 3.7 POTRA1 Transit Peptide Positional Specific Crosslinking

Because gluteraldehyde can interact with itself forming polymers during the crosslinking process, positional information cannot be determined by this cross-linking method. Bismaleimidohexane (BMH) does not form polymers, and its linker-arm length is set at 13 Å, this means that peptides will only be cross-linked if their reactive cysteines are within 13 angstroms of each other. Both POTRA1 and SStp*Ps* have one cysteine (54C and 57C, respectively) and can be subjected to thiol reactive homo-bifunctional cross-linker BMH. POTRA2 has four cysteines and POTRA3 has none, which makes both peptides poor substrates for BMH crosslinking. BMH has a linker length of ~ 16 Å



# Figure 3.13 Western Blot and Silver Stain Analysis of BMH crosslinking of POTRA1 SStp*Ps*

A) Two identically-loaded and run western blots overlaid on top of each other. POTRA1 (red) is present as a monomer (\*) alone (lane 1) and in the presence of five molar excess SStpPs without and with BMH (lane 3, lane 4). SStp*Ps* (blue) is present as a monomer ( $\Rightarrow$ ) and dimer ( $\Rightarrow$ ) alone (lane 2) and in the presence of POTRA1 (lane 3, lane 4). POTRA1 forms a homodimer (#) in the presence of BMH (lane 4). A unique species (%) is detected in lane 4, and is a possible trimer of POTRA1. There is no POTRA1 and SStp*Ps* heterodimer formed using BMH as a cross-linker. M is see-blue prestained marker. B) is an identically-loaded silver-stained tris-tricine gel. Monomers of POTRA1 (P1) and SStpPs (TP) are visible, as well as a faint POTRA1 dimer (D).

and can chemically cross-link peptides together via two sulfhydryl (-SH) groups, found in reduced cysteine residues. BMH is a more specific cross-linker than glutaraldehyde, and can give positional information on where peptides interact. In the cross-linking reactions performed (Figure 3.12) POTRA1 was all monomer without BMH present (\*, Lane 1), while SStpPs homo-dimerized without any BMH present (\*, Lane 2). This auto homodimerization of SStpPs could be because the protein is present at a high concentration (100  $\mu$ M), and SStpPs has shown a tendency to form concentration dependent dimers (data not shown). Lane 3 showed that while the auto-dimer of SStpPs is still present, there is no POTRA1-TP interaction without cross-linker. In lane 4 the addition of BMH yielded a POTRA1 homo-dimer (#), but no POTRA1-SStpPs hetero-dimer. The unique species (%) is odd, the size of the species is that of a POTRA1 trimer, but each POTRA1 domain has only one cysteine to interact with the BMH. Perhaps a single POTRA1 domain is sandwiched between the cross-linked POTRA1 dimer. This experiment shows that the C-terminus of POTRA1 (modeled to be part of the  $\beta$ -strand) can contribute to POTRA1 homo-oligomerization.

#### 3.8 Analytical Ultracentrifugation Supports POTRA1 Homo-Oligomerization

After trapping species of POTRA domains and transit peptide in various homo and hetero-oligomeric states with cross-linking the next step taken was to check whether the POTRA domains could form homo or hetero-oligomers with TP in solution conditions. Analytical ultracentrifugation (AUC) is a technique that investigates weak interacting partners by monitoring sedimentation of different species of oligomers present in the cell. AUC has previously been used in our lab to determine dimerization conditions for *Ps*Toc34 (Reddick et al. 2007). Analytical ultracentrifugation was used to confirm the presence of POTRA1 homodimers (Figure 3.14 & 3.15) as well as POTRA3-SStp*Ps* heterodimers (Figure 3.16 & 3.17). POTRA1 had a higher sedimentation co-efficient contaminant (Figure 3.14) that was constant across all concentrations of POTRA1. The remaining signal was from either the monomeric or dimeric species of POTRA1. There was a concentration dependent dimerization of POTRA1 above 13  $\mu$ M (Figure 3.14 and 3.15). The dimer species seemed to stay constant from 17 to 24  $\mu$ M. This supports the idea that POTRA1 homo-oligomerizes in solution, and is not just trapped in chemically cross-linked oligomeric states.

#### 3.9 Analytical Ultracentrifugation Supports POTRA3 Transit Peptide Interaction

AUC has been attempted on POTRA3 alone at various concentrations to see if an oligomer could be detected, but the results have been inconclusive and are not shown. A different AUC experiment was performed where the concentration of POTRA3 was held constant, and various concentrations of transit peptide were incubated in different cells. Ratios of POTRA3:SStp*Ps* of 1:0, 1:1, and 1:10 (Figure 3.16) were screened to check for concentration dependent hetero-dimerization. At the sedimentation coefficient of ~ 0.5, a TP monomer is present in the 1:1 and 1:10 ratios (Fig 3.16 black and blue lines). The POTRA3 monomer had a sedimentation coefficient of ~ 1.0 in the 1:0 and 1:1 ratios (Fig 3.16 red and black lines). When the molar ratio of P3:TP was 1:10, a hetero-dimer that settled at a sedimentation coefficient of ~ 1.5 was formed (Fig 3.16 blue line). All of the POTRA3 monomer has shifted to this heavier species when incubated with 10 molar excess SStp*Ps*. The percent composition of TP, P3, and P3:TP for each cell in the AUC



Figure 3.14 Homodimerization of POTRA1 Detected by AUC

Monomer and dimer species of POTRA1 are detected as well as a contaminant at different concentrations of POTRA1 in the AUC cells.



Figure 3.15 POTRA1 Homodimerization via AUC

Quantitation of the monomer and dimer species of POTRA1 detected by AUC. The contaminant is also present.



Figure 3.16 POTRA3-SStpPs Heterodimer Supported by AUC

Monomer species of SStp*Ps* and POTRA3 were present in AUC cells with a 1:1 mixture of SStp*Ps* and POTRA3 (black line) and with POTRA3 alone (red line). A SStp*Ps*-POTRA3 hetero-dimer is present (blue line) at a ten fold molar excess of SStp*Ps*.



Figure 3.17 AUC of POTRA3-SStpPs Yields Discrete Species

Area under the curve for each AUC cell was calculated, all species (SStpPs monomer, POTRA3 monomer, and SStpPs-POTRA3 heterodimer) contribution was also calculated.

was calculated (Fig 3.17), and supports the shift of POTRA3 to POTRA3:SStp*Ps* in the 1:10 ratio. This heterodimer supports the POTRA3-SStpPs interaction trapped by glutaraldehyde, and demonstrates that the heterodimer can occur in solution as well as being trapped with chemical crosslinking. AUC experiments with POTRA1 and SStp*Ps* yield no clear interactions (data not shown). This could be due to the fact that POTRA1 homo-dimerizes much more easily that POTRA3 as evidenced by crosslinking. It would be difficult to resolve hetero-dimer of P1:TP from homo-dimer P1 using AUC.

#### 3.10 POTRA1 Pull-down Assay Supports Transit Peptide Interaction

With the limitation of AUC in mind a pull-down assay was designed (Figure 3.18) and employed to test the ability of POTRA1 to interact with transit peptide. A chitin column incubated with SStp*Ps*, and a chitin column bound with POTRA1-fusion were used as negative controls. The experiment took advantage of the chitin-binding domain present in the pTYB2 vector to bind POTRA1-fusion to chitin beads, creating a POTRA1 affinity column. The experiment also used the self-cleaving intein tag to elute the POTRA domain to ensure that the protein was interacting with the POTRA domain and not the intein tag or chitin-binding domain.

The experiment bound POTRA1-fusion to a chitin column (Figure 3.18, Flowthrough), washed out the excess POTRA1-fusion (Figure 3.18, Wash), incubated the now POTRA1-column with SStp*Ps* (Figure 3.18, Binding), washed out the excess or non specifically interacting SStp*Ps* (Figure 3.18, Wash 2), then cleaved the POTRA1 overnight at 4°C. The chitin column-SStp*Ps* negative control was done without the binding of POTRA1-fusion, and the chitin column-POTRA1 negative control skipped the



Figure 3.18 Pulldown Assay Scheme

Strategy employed for the pull-down assay. POTRA1 was expressed as an intein-chitin binding domain fusion protein. *E. coli* were lysed and centrifuged to clear the soluble proteins. The supernatant was then passed through a chitin column. The column was then washed with 20 bed volumes of 1xPBS pH 9. Transit peptide (SStp*Ps*) was then loaded onto the fusion protein-bound column and incubated at room temperature for two hours. Unbound SStp*Ps* was then washed out of the column with 5 bed volumes of buffer. The column was incubated with 1xPBS pH 9 containing 50 mM  $\beta$ -Me overnight and eluted. A column containing chitin beads but not the POTRA fusion protein was used as negative control.

incubation with SStp*Ps*. Elutions from each of the columns were taken after incubation with 50  $\mu$ M  $\beta$ -Me overnight to induce intein self-cleavage (Figure 3.18, Elution). In the experimental column when POTRA1 was eluted SStp*Ps* co-eluted with it, as confirmed via Western blotting (Figure 3.19, lane 9, P1 and TP). The transit peptide was not present in either of the other columns used as negative control. This experiment supported the POTRA1-SStp*Ps* hetero-dimer formation that was demonstrated in the chemical crosslinking experiment. It showed that there is some specific interaction of POTRA1 with SStp*Ps* that allows interaction while on the column, and co-elution off of the column as well.

#### 3.11 Synergism of POTRA1-3 in in vitro Chloroplast Protein Import

To see if all of the *in vitro* interactions detected so far could occur during actual protein import into the chloroplast, an assay was used to determine the effect of recombinant POTRA domains on chloroplast protein import *in vitro*. Purified, intact chloroplasts retain the ability to import proteins. An assay has been developed (Figure 3.20) that allows measurement of radiolabeled precursor protein either bound to or imported into the purified chloroplasts. Binding and import of precursor proteins into the chloroplast can be separated by varying energetic conditions (Figure 3.20 A). Fixed amounts of radio-labeled precursor to the small subunit to rubisco (<sup>35</sup>S-prSSU) is incubated with a fixed amount of purified pea chloroplasts with various amounts of POTRA1-3 for 15 min at room temperature (Figure 3.20 B). The chloroplasts, now radiolabeled with imported mature protein or bound with radiolabeled precursor protein, are re-isolated, adjusted to the same protein concentration (Figure 3.20 C), run via SDS-



## Figure 3.19 Pulldown Assay Elutions Western Blot

Increasing concentrations of SStpPs and POTRA1 were loaded in lanes 1-3 and 4-6. Overnight cleavages and subsequent elutions of columns from figure 3.13 were run and blotted in lanes 7-9. Samples of the chitin columns were run in lanes 10-12. C is cleaved intein and chitin binding domain.



Figure 3.20 In vitro Import Competition Assays

Binding and import of precursor proteins into the chloroplast can be separated by varying energetic conditions (A). Fixed amounts of 35S-prSSU is incubated with a fixed amount of purified pea chloroplasts with various amounts of POTRA1-3 for 15 min at room temperature (B). The chloroplasts are then washed, re-isolated, adjusted to an equal protein concentration (C) and later run via SDS-PAGE and quantitated by autoradiography and/or scintillation counting.

PAGE (Figure 3.21 D), and quantitated by autoradiography. Effectors are mature small subunit of rubisco (mSSU) for negative control, it should not interact with the translocon because it does not have a transit peptide; prSSU which acts as a positive control, it should interact with the translocon and compete for import. Both the positive and negative controls compete with the radiolabeled prSSU for import through the general import pathway, the POTRA1-3 could interact with the radiolabeled prSSU in solution, preventing the prSSU from making its way into the chloroplast. The results are then graphed versus the amount of competitor for the bound (Figure 3.21 A), intermediate (Figure 3.21 B), and imported Figure 3.21 C) intensities for each competitor mSSU, prSSU, and POTRA1-3. These results showed that at all concentrations POTRA1-3 increased the amount of radiolabeled precursor bound, imported, and an intermediated species when compared against the negative control (Figure 3.21). This means that the recombinant POTRA1-3 has a stimulatory effect on chloroplast protein import.

#### **3.12 Conclusions**

*Ps*Toc75 POTRA domains have been modeled after crystal structures and chosen by sequence alignment. POTRA1 and POTRA3 can be recombinantly expressed and purified as part of a fusion protein in the pTYB2 vector. POTRA2 and POTRA1-3 can be expressed, refolded, and purified with a 6xHis tag in the pET-30(a) vector. The various POTRA domains have been purified and subjected to MALDI-TOF to confirm purity and that each POTRA domain was close to its expected size. CD was also performed on all POTRA domains to determine whether or not there was secondary structure in the natively purified and refolded domains. The secondary structure deconvoluted from the



Figure 3.21 Stimulation of Protein Import by POTRA1-3

The graphs show the amount of bound (A), intermediate (B), and imported (C) <sup>35</sup>S-SStp*Ps* into chloroplasts determined by scanning the autoradiogram (D). Bound graph is the intensity of the P (precursor) bands in the autoradiogram, which are bound to the chloroplast but not imported. Intermediate graph is the intensity of the I (intermediate) bands in the autoradiogram, which are imported but only partially cleaved or mis-cleaved. Imported graph is the intensity of the M (mature) bands in the autoradiogram, which are fully imported into the stroma of the chloroplast and correctly cleaved.

CD spectra was compared to a set of POTRA domains that were structurally solved to help determine if the recombinant POTRA domains were correctly folded. The POTRA domains were tested for an ability to interact with each other and transit peptide, the substrate of Toc75. The majority of the testing was done with POTRA1 and POTRA3 because POTRA2 and POTRA1-3 were produced recently. POTRA1 has shown the ability to homo-oligomerize. Glutaraldehyde (GA) cross-linking showed that oligomers up to pentamers of POTRA1 can be identified. BMH cross-linking demonstrated that homo-dimers of POTRA1 can be isolated, and that the proteins interact near their Cterminus. This homo-oligomerization is not an artifact of cross-linking either, as AUC shows that POTRA1 can also form homo-dimers in a concentration dependent manner in solution. GA cross-linking has also shown that the homo-oligomerization of POTRA1 can be interrupted by addition of transit peptide. The pull-down assay supports the POTRA1 transit peptide interaction by showing that transit peptide interacts with and coelutes with POTRA1. These two discoveries are interesting because they suggest a dual role for POTRA1. They could help with TOC core complex formation, and still direct transit peptides into the translocation pore. Perhaps POTRA1 could interact with other members of the TOC core complex to help with assembly.

While POTRA1 homo-oligomerization is supported by cross-linking and AUC, neither of those experiments show that POTRA3 homo-oligomerizes to nearly the same extent as POTRA1. The glutaraldehyde crosslinking showed that the majority of POTRA3 was a monomer, and that discrete higher molecular weight oligomers were not formed. BMH crosslinking was not performed because the POTRA3 does not contain a cysteine. AUC done on POTRA3 alone was inconclusive, although when AUC was

performed on POTRA3 and transit peptide, a heterodimer was detected at high concentrations of transit peptide. This information could mean that the role of POTRA3 is not in assembly of the TOC core complex, but it could function in funneling precursor proteins into the translocation pore of the Toc75.

The full length POTRA domain seems to have a stimulatory effect on protein import into the chloroplast during *in vitro* import assays. This means that the recombinant POTRA1-3 helps the general import pathway during chloroplast protein import. A model is discussed that would accomplish this in the discussion section. It is interesting to note that the roles and possible interactions of the POTRA domains could be so diverse.

## **Chapter 4 Discussion**

#### 4.1 Introduction

POTRA domains have been found on proteins on the outer membranes of gramnegative bacteria, chloroplasts, mitochondria, and cyanobacteria. They are involved in protein translocation either into or through membranes. Their roles have been suggested in protein translocation machinery assembly and interactions with substrates. This work has found some possible interaction partners of *Ps*Toc75 POTRA domains *in vitro*. This has been accomplished with two types of chemical cross-linking, AUC, pull-down assays, and a purified chloroplast protein import assay. It is interesting to look for roles common for specific POTRA domains and to try and determine how POTRA domains of different species and different organelles differ and how they relate to each other.

#### 4.2 Conservation of POTRA Domains

Between one and seven POTRA domains reside in the N-terminal portions of proteins in the Omp85/TPS superfamily (Arnold et al. 2010; Gentle et al. 2004; Gentle et al. 2005; Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003). The Omp85s of Photosynthetic prokaryotes possess three POTRA domains (Arnold et al. 2010; Koenig et al. 2010), equivalent to the number of POTRA domains in Toc75 in chloroplasts (Sanchez-Pulido et al. 2003). POTRA domains tend to cluster according to their position. In a cluster analysis of POTRA domains the clusters of the N-terminal and C-terminal POTRA domains of Toc75, Omp85, and cyanobacterial Omp85 are all in close proximity (Figure 4.1, Arnold et al. 2010). The



Figure 4.1 Cluster Analysis of POTRA Domains

POTRA Domains from Sam50, Toc75-III, Toc75-V, *cy*Omp85, proteobacterial Omp85, cyanobacterial (*cy*TPSS), and proteobacterial TPSS. Each dot is a single sequence, and the intensity of each connecting line is the quality of BLAST p-value light gray  $(1x10^{-2})$  to black  $(1x10^{-20})$ . Figure used from Arnold (2010).

POTRA2 of cyanobacterial Omp85s and Toc75 aligns well with POTRA2 and POTRA4 of Omp85.

The C-terminal POTRA domains have the tightest cluster, meaning that their function is probably the most conserved and the most important. Data for the importance of the most C-terminal POTRA domain is around in the literature as the C-terminal POTRA domain knock-out has been shown to be lethal in Omp85 in *Neisseria meningitidis* (Bos et al. 2007). This suggests that all C-terminal POTRA domains (especially of Toc75, Omp85, and cyanobacterial Omp85) may be necessary for organism or plastid survival. POTRA3 of *ana*Omp85 has a loop between the first beta-strand and first alpha-helix, that is conserved in chloroplast and cyanobacteria but not mitochondria or proteobacteria (Figure 4.2).

The large size of POTRA2 in Toc75 is not conserved across POTRA2 domains in cyanobacteria, and there has yet to be an algal or plant POTRA domain structurally solved. POTRA2 in *Ana*Omp85 was determined to be 80 residues (Koenig et al. 2010) and POTRA2 in *Te*Omp85 is 70 residues (Arnold et al. 2010). The helix  $\alpha$ 1 and the  $\beta$ -strand  $\beta$ 1 of POTRA2 in *Ana*Omp85 (Koenig et al. 2010) are both interrupted resulting in a  $\beta$ -bulge, which is also present in the third POTRA domain of BamA (Kim et al. 2007). Also conserved is a stable orientation for the POTRA2 and POTRA3 domains and more flexibility between the POTRA2 and POTRA1 (Koenig et al. 2010), this mirrors the flexibility between POTRA2 and POTRA 3 of BamA (Gatzeva-Topalova et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2007). POTRA1 of *ana*Omp85 has a small two-stranded  $\beta$ -sheet near its N-terminus, which form a  $\beta$ -cap (Koenig et al. 2010) . The first  $\beta$ -strand of the cap is



Figure 4.2 Crystal Structure of Cyanobacterial Omp85 POTRA Domains

Crystal structures of *Te*Omp85 (A, pdb id. 2X8X) and *Ana*Omp85 (B, pdb id. 3MC8) modeled in M.O.E. are pictured side by side. The  $\beta$ -cap of POTRA1 is colored in orange, the flexible linker between POTRA1 and POTRA2 is colored in light gray, the  $\beta$ -bulge in POTRA2 is colored in magenta, the L1 loop of POTRA3 is colored in dark gray.

N-terminal to the  $\beta 1$  of POTRA1, and the second  $\beta$ -strand of the cap if between  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  of POTRA1. All of these unique portions on the POTRA domains could be the biological explanation for the unique roles that POTRA domains seem to have in their various Omp85 and TPS proteins. It will be interesting to see if the unique features of each POTRA domain are responsible for the roles of the POTRA domains.

#### 4.3 Role and Model of Action for Individual POTRA Domains

The  $\beta$ -sheet of POTRA1, more specifically  $\beta 2$ , can interact with a  $\beta$ -strand or  $\beta$ sheet via  $\beta$ -augmentation (Harrison 1996). The ability of POTRA1 to participate in  $\beta$ augmentation has been noted in in BamA (Gatzeva-Topalova et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2007) and *ana*Omp85 (Koenig et al. 2010). This  $\beta$ -augmentation has been shown to be able to occur in both a parallel (Kim et al. 2007; Koenig et al. 2010) and an anti-parallel manner (Gatzeva-Topalova et al. 2008). Transit peptides have a region towards their Cterminus that has been predicted to form an amphiphilic  $\beta$ -strand (von Heijne et al. 1989(von Heijne et al. 1989), this means that POTRA domains and TP could interact via  $\beta$ -augmentation.

Data collected in this work supports a role for POTRA1 in substrate recognition (interactions with SStp*Ps*) and formation of a protein translocation complex (self-dimerization). In an attempt to explain this proposed dimerization could facilitate the TOC core complex assembly a model was proposed (Figure 4.3). The hinge region between POTRA2 and POTRA1 could allow POTRA1 the large degree of freedom needed to make adjacent interactions. POTRA1 could move around until it encountered



Figure 4.3 Model of POTRA1 Mitigating TOC Complex Oligomerization

**POTRA1**, POTRA2, **POTRA3** of Toc75. A) POTRA1 domains interacting, helping to bring a pair of Toc75s into contact with each other B)

another POTRA1 at which point the ability of POTRA1 to self-dimerize would allow time for the  $\beta$ -barrel pores of the two Toc75s to come into contact with each other. Alternatively this interaction could compete for an in-plug formation that could occlude the protein conducting channel. The outer edge of the  $\beta$ -barrels could interact with each other, perhaps via  $\beta$ -augmentation, and this would help to form the 4:4:1 stoichiometry (Agne et al. 2009) of Toc75:Toc34:Toc159 that is present in the TOC core complex.

POTRA1 has been shown to interact with substrates of the Omp85 or TPS that it belongs to. POTRA1 of BamA in *E. coli* has been shown to interact with nascent LptD, LamB, and OmpF (all OMPs destined for the outer membrane in *E. coli*) and has even been implicated in proper insertion of BamA itself into the outer membrane (Bennion et al. 2010; Knowles et al. 2008). POTRA domains belonging to TpsB transporters interact with their TpsA partner (Clantin et al. 2007; Hodak et al. 2006). In particular POTRA1 of FhaC was shown to interact with FHA, although not as well as the entire periplasmic domain of FhaC does (Delattre et al. 2011). This means that POTRA2 of FhaC must interact with the FHA substrate as well. POTRA2 of Toc75 is very large and may contain a  $\beta$ -bulge like POTRA2 of *ana*Omp85 or POTRA3 of BamA. If this is the case Toc75 POTRA2 would have more space to interact with transit peptides or other members of the TOC machinery.

This work has shown the ability of excess transit peptide to interfere with POTRA1 homo-oligomerization (Fig 3.12). Perhaps when precursor proteins are present at the outer membrane of the chloroplast they can interrupt this homo-oligomerization of POTRA1 (Figure 4.4) and begin to begin a journey down the POTRA domains into the pore (Figure 4.5). We have shown that POTRA1 interacts with itself in the formation of



Figure 4.4 Transit Peptide Disrupts POTRA1 Oligomers

(A) POTRA1 homo-dimers interrupted by (B) heterodimerization of POTRA1 with transit peptide of a precursor protein.



Figure 4.5 Proposed Role of POTRA in Protein Import

Transit peptides interact with the N-terminus of the Toc75 (Ertel, 2005). Above is the proposed interaction order of TP with Toc75, with the TP of a precursor protein interacting with POTRA1 (A), POTRA2 (B), POTRA3 (C), before import via the C-terminal pore of Toc75 (D).

homo-oligomers, and with transit peptide by the formation of heterodimers. In fact, we have shown that elevated levels of transit peptide can disrupt POTRA1 homo-oligomers *in vitro*. If POTRA1 domains homo-oligomerize *in vivo* then the ability of transit peptides to disrupt these POTRA1 oligomers would benefit protein import by allowing the precursor proteins access to all POTRA domains and to the pore domain of the Toc75.

It has been shown that in *Ana*Omp85 the POTRA domains gate the pore, as constructs without the POTRA containing N-terminus of *Ana*Omp85 allow sucrose to diffuse freely into the liposomes they are reconstituted in (Ertel et al. 2005; Koenig et al. 2010). More specifically the most C-terminal POTRA domain, POTRA3, of *Ana*Omp85 contains a loop deemed L1 loop between the first beta-strand and first alpha-helix, that is conserved in chloroplast and cyanobacteria but not mitochondria or proteobacteria, that has been shown to have a gating effect on the pore of *Ana*Omp85 (Koenig et al. 2010). Another possibility for the observed gating effect on the pore of the translocon is that there are  $\beta$ -strands in the pore that are unstable, and they have to interact with something to stabilize them, and the stabilizing proteins are called "in-plug" domains (Naveed et al. 2009). In unpublished collaboration with Dr. Jie Liang some  $\beta$ -strands of the *Ps*Toc75 barrel have been predicted to be weakly stable. A possibility is that part of the most C-terminal POTRA domain is responsible for acting as this in-plug and helps stabilize the pore in an open conformation after the POTRA domain has interacted with the substrate.

#### 4.4 Models of POTRA Interaction with Peptide Substrates

Class I major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules carry short peptides from proteins degraded in the cytoplasm of nucleated vertebrate cells to the cell surface

via secretory vesicles (Falk et al. 1991). T cells have receptors (TCR) that can recognize the antigens presented by these MHC molecules (Townsend and Bodmer 1989) on the surface of cells. If the peptide presented is part of a foreign protein the cell will be marked for destruction by cytotoxic T cells (Khan et al. 2000). The peptide-binding portion of MHC molecules is made up of an eight  $\beta$ -stranded sheet with a binding groove between two long  $\alpha$ -helices (Bjorkman et al. 1987a; Bjorkman et al. 1987b; Saper et al. 1991). The tertiary structure of this MHC is strikingly similar to a POTRA domain (Figure 4.6). However, POTRA domains cannot interact specifically with transit peptides, because there are thousands of different transit peptides (Bruce 2000), and only three POTRA domains in chloroplasts. There is a difference in the way that the two different domains behave with respect to interacting with their respective substrates. Class I MHC molecules bind peptides very strongly in vitro with fast association rates (Springer et al. 1998) and slow dissociation rates (Buus et al. 1986). In fact class I molecules are capable of forming complexes with half-lives lasting tens of hours with many different peptide substrates (Khan et al. 2000). This differs from POTRA domains because POTRA domains do not form stable complexes with their substrates. If the binding affinity of POTRA domains was too high, it would severely hamper the ability of their proteins to export/import substrates or to insert proteins into the outer membranes. Another way the mode of interaction of POTRA domains and MHC molecules differ is that MHC interactions are specific. Side chains of peptides in the binding groove of MHC molecules reside in specific pockets, showing a sequence-dependence on peptide binding (Garrett et al. 1989; Guo et al. 1993; Saper et al. 1991).



Figure 4.6 Tertiary Structural Similarity between POTRA Domain and Class I

# MHC

Class I MHC (pdb id: 1DUZ, top) shares similar structural identity with POTRA Domains (POTRA2 pdb id: 2X8X, bottom)

Another set of molecules that use  $\beta$ -strands to bind their substrates are the molecular chaperones of the 70-kDa heat shock protein (hsp70) family, and they are present in the cells of all organisms (Zhu et al. 1996). These proteins have constitutive and stress-induced functions (Saito and Uchida 1978) and are involved in events such as translocation and nascent chain folding as well as anti-aggregation functions (Rothman 1989). There are ATP-binding and substrate binding domains present on hsp70s (Welch and Feramisco 1985). The crystallized structure of the substrate binding domain of DnaK (the hsp70 with DNA replication functions in E. coli (Saito and Uchida 1978)) has a sandwich of a dimer of four  $\beta$ -strands followed by five alpha helices (Zhu et al. 1996). The peptides that interact with the substrate binding domain form hydrogen bonds with the  $\beta$ -sandwich domain of DnaK. Hsp70-peptide complexes, like class I MHC interactions, have long half-lives (Schmid et al. 1994). DnaK, uniquely, binds peptides in extended conformations, some of the hydrogen bonds formed between the peptide and the DnaK are generic and between the peptide backbone with a few key specificity determining pockets (Zhu et al. 1996).

Another group of surface domain proteins use  $\beta$ -strands to interact with peptides. PDZ domains are common domains of 80-110 residues (Boxus et al. 2008) present in the C-terminal portions of signaling proteins of bacteria, yeast, plants (Ponting 1997), and animals (Cho et al. 1992). PDZ domains derived their name from the first three different proteins that they were noticed in: post synaptic density protein of 95 kDa (PSD95), *Drosophila* disc large tumor suppressor (DlgA), and zonula occludens-1 protein (Zo-1) (Kennedy 1995). PDZ domains have six  $\beta$ -sheets and two alpha helices (Figure 4.7). The  $\beta$ -augmentation can be seen in the crystal structure in figure 4.7, an exposed  $\beta$ -strand of



# Figure 4.7 PDZ Domain Dimer Interacting via Beta Augmentation

PDB id 3QJM SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domains dimer from *Rattus norvegicus* a PDZ domain forms a dimer (1 monomer in orange, 1 colored according to secondary structure) in a crystal lattice and also interacts with a synthetic peptide (gray).

one PDZ interacts with a different exposed  $\beta$ -strand on the other PDZ.  $\beta$ -augmentation also occurs between an exposed  $\beta$ -strand of the PDZ domain and the synthetic peptide used in the crystallization experiment (Lee et al. 2011). Interestingly, the structure of PDZ domains and POTRA domains is also highly similar, with both domains being much more similar in size than POTRA domains are to MHC domains. Both  $\beta$ -augmentation interactions in this crystal structure are anti-parallel, but parallel interactions can occur (Kim et al. 2007; Koenig et al. 2010). PTB domains, regions of 100-150 residues present in insulin receptor substrates 1 and 2 also form hydrogen bonds with  $\beta$ -stranded peptides near the exposed edge of a  $\beta$ -sheet (Harrison 1996). Furthermore, this ability to interact with two or more substrates at once could explain why there was a gradual decrease in POTRA1 homo-oligomer with an increase in concentration of transit peptide, perhaps the POTRA1 homo-oligomer could accommodate some transit peptide and only at higher concentrations did the transit peptide start to out compete all of the homo-oligomeric interactions.

#### 4.5 Synergism of Recombinant POTRA1-3 in Chloroplast Protein Import

We tried to take advantage of the interactions of POTRA domains, whether they occur in an MHC-like fashion or by  $\beta$ -augmentaion, with transit peptide in the *in vitro* import competition assay. The results (Fig 3.21) from the experiment described in Fig. 3.20 were unexpected. Recombinant POTRA1-3 was expected to interact with the precursor proteins in solution, competing with the POTRA1-3 present on the outer envelope of the chloroplasts. If this competition would have occurred the increase in concentration of recombinant POTRA1-3 would have resulted in an inverse relationship

of radiolabeled precursor protein imported into the chloroplast and concentration of recombinant POTRA1-3. The experiment supported the opposite, and a direct correlation of radiolabeled precursor with POTRA1-3 concentration was seen (Fig. 3.21 C).

The ability of POTRA domains to homo-oligomerize was not taken into account in the hypothesis for this experiment. An alternative model (Figure 4.8) is put forth that takes the homo-oligomerization of POTRA domains, more specifically POTRA1, into account. The cartoon on the left of the model shows a chloroplast with the POTRA1 domain of a Toc75 molecule interacting with a precursor protein, beginning the proposed journey down the POTRA domains through the pore of Toc75. The cartoon on the right side of the model depicts recombinant POTRA1-3 (dashed lines) in the reaction with a chloroplast and precursor proteins. The POTRA1 of the recombinant POTRA1-3 is interacting with POTRA1 of the Toc75 in the outer envelope of the chloroplast. This allows a longer working POTRA domain repeat when compared to the three POTRA domains present in the left of the cartoon. This additional length of the POTRA domain in the right cartoon could allow the recombinant POTRA1-3 bound Toc75 to interact with and eventually funnel more precursor proteins into the chloroplast it belongs to. The recombinant POTRA domains could increase the effective concentration of transit peptide, allowing the pore to stay open longer if the in-plug model is correct and would also allow faster import of the protein through other Toc75 channels. This would help to explain why there was high binding and import in the competition assay when the concentration of recombinant POTRA1-3 was increased.



Figure 4.8 Proposed POTRA Domain Synergism

POTRA1 of Toc75 in purified chloroplasts could homodimerize with POTRA1 of recombinant POTRA1-3 (dashed lines) in the competition assay. This would result in a Toc75 with a POTRA reach approximately 2/3 longer than chloroplasts without recombinant POTRA1-3 present. This synergism would help explain the stimulation in precursor import reported in figure 3.15.

#### 4.6 Conclusions

It is interesting to see the unique interactions of the POTRA domains of Toc75 with transit peptides and in homo-oligomerization. These interactions mimic the unique roles of POTRA domains found in the literature. It will be interesting to see whether or not the differences in the interactions of the POTRA domains are due to a difference in the secondary structure. That is, does the  $\beta$ -cap of POTRA1 seen in the cyanobacterial Omp85s allow the increase in homo-oligomerization seen in Toc75 POTRA1? Are the structural similarities that are shared between the cyanobacterial Omp85 POTRA domains even conserved in higher plant Toc75 POTRA domains? Perhaps the  $\beta$ -bulge in POTRA2 serves a purpose, and the L1 loop in POTRA3 is some sort of an in plug that gates the translocation pore until POTRA3 interacts with transit peptide.

This work has shown what some of the POTRA domains of Toc75 can interact with. That POTRA domains can homo-oligomerize, interact with transit-peptide containing substrates, and stimulate protein import is clear, but what is not clear is the method of interaction. It will be of great interest to see which method or methods of interaction the POTRA domains use. To see if they interact with their substrates in a manner more like class I MHC binding, whether they are more like PDZ  $\beta$ -augmentation, or could they form  $\beta$ -sandwiches that interact with peptides like the hsp70s that bring precursor proteins to the TOC assembly in the first place will be very exciting.

#### **Chapter 5 Future Directions**

There are experiments that will add to the knowledge of the roles of the individual POTRA domains that need to be performed. Glutaraldehyde cross-linking experiments can be run on POTRA2 and POTRA1-3 (currently underway) now that those domains can be produced. Cross-linking reactions will be carried out with the domains alone and also in the presence of transit peptide. This will allow us to map each POTRA domain's contribution to homo and hetero-oligomerization. AUC needs to be performed on these domains alone to help determine the extent of homo-oligomerization. AUC also needs to be repeated on POTRA3 alone because both previous trials were unsuccessful. AUC should be repeated with POTRA1 and transit peptide to see the extent that these two domains can hetero-dimerize. AUC could help determine binding affinities for the various dimer species. The pTYB2 pull-down assay should be repeated using POTRA3 as the anchor to support the POTRA3 transit peptide interaction visualized in chemical crosslinking and AUC. Perhaps a Ni-NTA column could be bound with P2-His or P1-3-His to perform a pull-down assay with those POTRA domains. Finally the import competition assay could be performed with each POTRA domain individually to possibly see the contribution each POTRA has to import synergism. All of the above experiments are to test POTRA interactions with themselves and with transit peptide, it would be interesting to replace transit peptide with the GTPase members of the TOC core complex. This would allow us insight into the assembly of the whole complex and possibly a model for import of precursor protein into the chloroplast.
To determine the method of POTRA interaction, solving the POTRA1-3 structure would be of tremendous value. This would also allow us to know whether or not our modeling was correct and possibly remake individual POTRA domains if our predictions were incorrect. A large amount of POTRA1-3 can be produced, although it is not stable very long once it is refolded. If the protein can be concentrated, conditions that led to solved crystal structures of cyanobacterial Omp85s can be screened around. List of References

- (2000). "Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant Arabidopsis thaliana." *Nature*, 408(6814), 796-815.
- Abdullah, F., Salamini, F., and Leister, D. (2000). "A prediction of the size and evolutional origin of the proteome of chloroplasts of *Arabidopsis*." *Trends in Plant Science*, 5(4), 141-142.
- Agne, B., Infanger, S., Wang, F., Hofstetter, V., Rahim, G., Martin, M., Lee, D. W., Hwang, I., Schnell, D., and Kessler, F. (2009). "A toc159 import receptor mutant, defective in hydrolysis of GTP, supports preprotein import into chloroplasts." J Biol Chem, 284(13), 8670-9.
- Akita, M., Nielsen, E., and Keegstra, K. (1997). "Identification of protein transport complexes in the chloroplastic envelope membranes via chemical cross-linking." *J Cell Biol*, 136(5), 983-94.
- Alefsen, H., Waegemann, K., and Soll, J. (1994). "Analysis of the chloroplast protein import machinery." *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 144(3), 339-345.
- Andres, C., Agne, B., and Kessler, F. (2010). "The TOC complex: preprotein gateway to the chloroplast." *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1803(6), 715-23.
- Aoki, S. K., Pamma, R., Hernday, A. D., Bickham, J. E., Braaten, B. A., and Low, D. A. (2005). "Contact-dependent inhibition of growth in Escherichia coli." *Science*, 309(5738), 1245-8.
- Arimura, S., Takusagawa, S., Hatano, S., Nakazono, M., Hirai, A., and Tsutsumi, N. (1999). "A novel plant nuclear gene encoding chloroplast ribosomal protein S9 has a transit peptide related to that of rice chloroplast ribosomal protein L12." *FEBS Lett*, 450(3), 231-4.
- Arnold, T., Zeth, K., and Linke, D. (2010). "Omp85 from the thermophilic cyanobacterium Thermosynechococcus elongatus differs from proteobacterial Omp85 in structure and domain composition." *J Biol Chem*, 285(23), 18003-15.
- Baldwin, A., Wardle, A., Patel, R., Dudley, P., Park, S. K., Twell, D., Inoue, K., and Jarvis, P. (2005). "A molecular-genetic study of the Arabidopsis Toc75 gene family." *Plant Physiol*, 138(2), 715-33.
- Balsera, M., Goetze, T. A., Kovacs-Bogdan, E., Schurmann, P., Wagner, R., Buchanan, B.
  B., Soll, J., and Bolter, B. (2009). "Characterization of Tic110, a channel-forming protein at the inner envelope membrane of chloroplasts, unveils a response to Ca(2+) and a stromal regulatory disulfide bridge." *J Biol Chem*, 284(5), 2603-16.
- Bauer, J., Chen, K., Hiltbunner, A., Wehrli, E., Eugster, M., Schnell, D., and Kessler, F. (2000). "The major protein import receptor of plastids is essential for chloroplast biogenesis." *Nature*, 403(6766), 203-7.
- Bauer, J., Hiltbrunner, A., Weibel, P., Vidi, P., Alvarez-Huerta, M., Smith, M., Schnell, D., and Kessler, K. (2002). "Essential role of the G-domain in targeting of the protein import receptor atToc159 to the chloroplast outer membrane." *Journal of Cell Biology*, 159(5), 845-854.
- Becker, T., Jelic, M., Vojta, A., Radunz, A., Soll, J., and Schleiff, E. (2004). "Preprotein recognition by the Toc complex." *EMBO J*, 23(3), 520-30.
- Bennion, D., Charlson, E. S., Coon, E., and Misra, R. (2010). "Dissection of beta-barrel outer membrane protein assembly pathways through characterizing BamA POTRA 1 mutants of Escherichia coli." *Mol Microbiol*, 77(5), 1153-71.

- Bhushan, S., Kuhn, C., Berglund, A. K., Roth, C., and Glaser, E. (2006). "The role of the N-terminal domain of chloroplast targeting peptides in organellar protein import and miss-sorting." *FEBS Lett*, 580(16), 3966-72.
- Bjorkman, P. J., Saper, M. A., Samraoui, B., Bennett, W. S., Strominger, J. L., and Wiley, D. C. (1987a). "The foreign antigen binding site and T cell recognition regions of class I histocompatibility antigens." *Nature*, 329(6139), 512-8.
- Bjorkman, P. J., Saper, M. A., Samraoui, B., Bennett, W. S., Strominger, J. L., and Wiley, D. C. (1987b). "Structure of the human class I histocompatibility antigen, HLA-A2." *Nature*, 329(6139), 506-12.
- Blobel, G. (1980). "Intracellular protein topogenesis." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 77(3), 1496-1500.
- Block, M. A., Dorne, A. J., Joyard, J., and Douce, R. (1983). "Preparation and characterization of membrane fractions enriched in outer and inner envelope membranes from spinach chloroplasts. I. Electrophoretic and immunochemical analyses." *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 258(21), 13273-13280.
- Bolter, B., May, T., and Soll, J. (1998). "A protein import receptor in pea chloroplasts, Toc86, is only a proteolytic fragment of a larger polypeptide." *FEBS Lett*, 441(1), 59-62.
- Borlee, B. R., Goldman, A. D., Murakami, K., Samudrala, R., Wozniak, D. J., and Parsek, M. R. (2010). "Pseudomonas aeruginosa uses a cyclic-di-GMP-regulated adhesin to reinforce the biofilm extracellular matrix." *Mol Microbiol*, 75(4), 827-42.
- Bos, M. P., Robert, V., and Tommassen, J. (2007). "Functioning of outer membrane protein assembly factor Omp85 requires a single POTRA domain." *EMBO Rep*, 8(12), 1149-54.
- Boxus, M., Twizere, J. C., Legros, S., Dewulf, J. F., Kettmann, R., and Willems, L. (2008). "The HTLV-1 Tax interactome." *Retrovirology*, 5, 76.
- Bredemeier, R., Schlegel, T., Ertel, F., Vojta, A., Borissenko, L., Bohnsack, M. T., Groll, M., von Haeseler, A., and Schleiff, E. (2007). "Functional and phylogenetic properties of the pore-forming beta-barrel transporters of the Omp85 family." J Biol Chem, 282(3), 1882-90.
- Bruce, B. D. (1998). "The role of lipids in plastid protein transport." *Plant Molecular Biology*, 38, 223-246.
- Bruce, B. D. (2000). "Chloroplast transit peptides: structure, function and evolution." *Trends in Cell Biology*, 10, 440-447.
- Bruce, B. D. (2001). "The paradox of plastid transit peptides: conservation of function despite divergence in primary structure." *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1541(1-2), 2-21.
- Butterfield, N. J. (2000). "Bangiomorpha pubescens n. gen., n. sp.: implications for the evolution of sex, multicellularity, and the Mesoproterozoic/ Neoproterozoic radiation of eukaryote." *Paleobiology*, 26(3), 386-404.
- Buus, S., Sette, A., Colon, S. M., Jenis, D. M., and Grey, H. M. (1986). "Isolation and characterization of antigen-Ia complexes involved in T cell recognition." *Cell*, 47(6), 1071-7.
- Byerly, G. R., Lower, D. R., and Walsh, M. (1986). "Stromatolites from the 3,300-3,500-Myr Swaziland Supergroup, Barberton Mountain Land, South Africa." *Nature*, 319, 489-491.

- Cameron, C. E., Lukehart, S. A., Castro, C., Molini, B., Godornes, C., and Van Voorhis, W. C. (2000). "Opsonic potential, protective capacity, and sequence conservation of the Treponema pallidum subspecies pallidum Tp92." *J Infect Dis*, 181(4), 1401-13.
- Chen, K. Y., and Li, H. M. (2007). "Precursor binding to an 880-kDa Toc complex as an early step during active import of protein into chloroplasts." *Plant J*, 49(1), 149-58.
- Cho, K. O., Hunt, C. A., and Kennedy, M. B. (1992). "The rat brain postsynaptic density fraction contains a homolog of the Drosophila discs-large tumor suppressor protein." *Neuron*, 9(5), 929-42.
- Chou, M. L., Chu, C. C., Chen, L. J., Akita, M., and Li, H. M. (2006). "Stimulation of transit-peptide release and ATP hydrolysis by a cochaperone during protein import into chloroplasts." *J Cell Biol*, 175(6), 893-900.
- Chou, M. L., Fitzpatrick, L. M., Tu, S. L., Budziszewski, G., Potter-Lewis, S., Akita, M., Levin, J. Z., Keegstra, K., and Li, H. M. (2003). "Tic40, a membrane-anchored co-chaperone homolog in the chloroplast protein translocon." *EMBO J*, 22(12), 2970-80.
- Chua, N. H., and Schmidt, G. W. (1978). "Post-translational transport into intact chloroplasts of a precursor the the small subunit of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase." *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*, 75(10), 6110-6114.
- Clantin, B., Delattre, A. S., Rucktooa, P., Saint, N., Meli, A. C., Locht, C., Jacob-Dubuisson, F., and Villeret, V. (2007). "Structure of the membrane protein FhaC: a member of the Omp85-TpsB transporter superfamily." *Science*, 317(5840), 957-61.
- Clantin, B., Hodak, H., Willery, E., Locht, C., Jacob-Dubuisson, F., and Villeret, V. (2004). "The crystal structure of filamentous hemagglutinin secretion domain and its implications for the two-partner secretion pathway." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101(16), 6194-9.
- Claros, M. G., Brunak, S., and von Heijne, G. (1997). "Prediction of N-terminal protein sorting signals." *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, 7(3), 394-8.
- Cline, K. (2000). "Gateway to the chloroplast." Nature, 403, 148-149.
- Constan, D., Patel, R., Keegstra, K., and Jarvis, P. (2004). "An outer envelope membrane component of the plastid protein import apparatus plays an essential role in Arabidopsis." *Plant J*, 38(1), 93-106.
- Delattre, A. S., Saint, N., Clantin, B., Willery, E., Lippens, G., Locht, C., Villeret, V., and Jacob-Dubuisson, F. (2011). "Substrate recognition by the POTRA domains of TpsB transporter FhaC." *Mol Microbiol*.
- Dyall, S. D., Brown, M. T., and Johnson, P. J. (2004). "Ancient Invasions: From Endosymbionts to Organelles." *Science*, 304, 253-257.
- Eckart, K., Eichacker, L., Sohrt, K., Schleiff, E., Heins, L., and Soll, J. (2002). "A Toc75like protein import channel is abundant in chloroplasts." *EMBO Rep*, 3(6), 557-62.
- Emanuelsson, O., Nielsen, H., and von Heijne, G. (1999). "ChloroP, a neural networkbased method for predicting chloroplast transit peptides and their cleavage sites." *Protein Sci*, 8(5), 978-84.

- Endo, T., Kawamura, K., and Nakai, M. (1992). "The chloroplast-targeting domain of plastocyanin transit peptide can form a helical structure but does not have a high affinity for lipid bilayers." *Eur J Biochem*, 207(2), 671-5.
- Endo, T., and Schatz, G. (1988). "Latent membrane perturbation activity of a mitochondrial precursor protein is exposed by unfolding." *EMBO J*, 7(4), 1153-8.
- Ertel, F., Mirus, O., Bredemeier, R., Moslavac, S., Becker, T., and Schleiff, E. (2005).
  "The evolutionarily related beta-barrel polypeptide transporters from Pisum sativum and Nostoc PCC7120 contain two distinct functional domains." *J Biol Chem*, 280(31), 28281-9.
- Falk, K., Rotzschke, O., Stevanovic, S., Jung, G., and Rammensee, H. G. (1991). "Allelespecific motifs revealed by sequencing of self-peptides eluted from MHC molecules." *Nature*, 351(6324), 290-6.
- Friedman, H., Vos, J. W., Hepler, P. K., Meir, S., Halevy, A. H., and Philosoph-Hadas, S. (2003). "The role of actin filaments in the gravitropic response of snapdragon flowering shoots." *Planta*, 216(6), 1034-42.
- Fulgosi, H., and Soll, J. (2002). "The chloroplast protein import receptors Toc34 and Toc159 are phosphorylated by distinct protein kinases." *J Biol Chem*, 277(11), 8934-40.
- Gabaldon, T., and Huynen, M. (2003). "Reconstruction of the Proto-Mitochondrial Metabolism." *Science*, 301(5633), 609.
- Gantt, J. S., Baldauf, S. L., Calie, P. J., Weeden, N. F., and Palmer, J. D. (1991).
  "Transfer of rpl22 to the nucleus greatly preceded its loss from the chloroplast and involved the gain of an intron." *EMBO J*, 10(10), 3073-8.
- Garrett, T. P., Saper, M. A., Bjorkman, P. J., Strominger, J. L., and Wiley, D. C. (1989). "Specificity pockets for the side chains of peptide antigens in HLA-Aw68." *Nature*, 342(6250), 692-6.
- Gatzeva-Topalova, P. Z., Walton, T. A., and Sousa, M. C. (2008). "Crystal structure of YaeT: conformational flexibility and substrate recognition." *Structure*, 16(12), 1873-81.
- Genevrois, S., Steeghs, L., Roholl, P., Letesson, J. J., and van der Ley, P. (2003). "The Omp85 protein of Neisseria meningitidis is required for lipid export to the outer membrane." *EMBO J*, 22(8), 1780-9.
- Gentle, I., Gabriel, K., Beech, P., Waller, R., and Lithgow, T. (2004). "The Omp85 family of proteins is essential for outer membrane biogenesis in mitochondria and bacteria." *J Cell Biol*, 164(1), 19-24.
- Gentle, I. E., Burri, L., and Lithgow, T. (2005). "Molecular architecture and function of the Omp85 family of proteins." *Mol Microbiol*, 58(5), 1216-25.
- Guo, H. C., Madden, D. R., Silver, M. L., Jardetzky, T. S., Gorga, J. C., Strominger, J. L., and Wiley, D. C. (1993). "Comparison of the P2 specificity pocket in three human histocompatibility antigens: HLA-A\*6801, HLA-A\*0201, and HLA-B\*2705." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90(17), 8053-7.
- Gutensohn, M., Pahnke, S., Kolukisaoglu, U., Schulz, B., Schierhorn, A., Voigt, A., Hust, B., Rollwitz, I., Stockel, J., Geimer, S., Albrecht, V., Flugge, U. I., and Klosgen, R. B. (2004). "Characterization of a T-DNA insertion mutant for the protein import receptor atToc33 from chloroplasts." *Mol Genet Genomics*, 272(4), 379-96.

- Habib, S. J., Waizenegger, T., Niewienda, A., Paschen, S. A., Neupert, W., and Rapaport, D. (2007). "The N-terminal domain of Tob55 has a receptor-like function in the biogenesis of mitochondrial beta-barrel proteins." *J Cell Biol*, 176(1), 77-88.
- Harrison, S. C. (1996). "Peptide-surface association: the case of PDZ and PTB domains." *Cell*, 86(3), 341-3.
- Heins, L., Mehrle, A., Hemmler, R., Wagner, R., Kuchler, M., Hormann, F., Sveshnikov, D., and Soll, J. (2002). "The preprotein conducting channel at the inner envelope membrane of plastids." *EMBO J*, 21(11), 2616-25.
- Highfield, P. E., and Ellis, R. J. (1978). "Synthesis and transport of the small " *Nature*, 271, 420-424.
- Hinnah, S. C., Hill, K., Wagner, R., Schlicher, T., and Soll, J. (1997). "Reconstitution of a chloroplast protein import channel." *EMBO J*, 16(24), 7351-60.
- Hinnah, S. C., Wagner, R., Sveshnikova, N., Harrer, R., and Soll, J. (2002). "The chloroplast protein import channel Toc75: pore properties and interaction with transit peptides." *Biophys J*, 83(2), 899-911.
- Hirsch, S., Muckel, E., Heemeyer, F., von Heijne, G., and Soll, J. (1994). "A receptor component of the chloroplast protein translocation machinery." *Science*, 266(5193), 1989-92.
- Hodak, H., Clantin, B., Willery, E., Villeret, V., Locht, C., and Jacob-Dubuisson, F. (2006). "Secretion signal of the filamentous haemagglutinin, a model two-partner secretion substrate." *Mol Microbiol*, 61(2), 368-82.
- Howe, C. J., Babrook, A. C., Nisbet, R. E. R., Lockhart, P. J., and Larkum, A. W. D. (2008). "The origin of plastids." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* of London, Series B: Biological Sciences, 363, 2675-2685.
- Huang, C. Y., Grunheit, N., Ahmadinejad, N., Timmis, J. N., and Martin, W. (2005).
  "Mutational Decay and Age of Chloroplast and Mitochondrial Genomes Transferred Recently to Angiosperm Nuclear Chromosomes." *Plant Physiology*, 138(3), 1723-1733.
- Inoue, H., and Akita, M. (2008). "Three sets of translocation intermediates are formed during the early stage of protein import into chloroplasts." *J Biol Chem*, 283(12), 7491-502.
- Inoue, K. (2007). "The Chloroplast Outer Envelope Membrane: The Edge of Light and Excitement." *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 49(8), 1100-1111.
- Inoue, K., and Keegstra, K. (2003). "A polyglycine stretch is necessary for proper targeting of the protein translocation channel precursor to the outer envelope membrane of chloroplasts." *Plant J*, 34(5), 661-9.
- Inoue, K., and Potter, D. (2004). "The chloroplastic protein translocation channel Toc75 and its paralog OEP80 represent two distinct protein families and are targeted to the chloroplastic outer envelope by different mechanisms." *Plant J*, 39(3), 354-65.
- Ivanova, Y., Smith, M. D., Chen, K., and Schnell, D. J. (2004). "Members of the Toc159 import receptor family represent distinct pathways for protein targeting to plastids." *Mol Biol Cell*, 15(7), 3379-92.
- Jackson-Constan, D., and Keegstra, K. (2001). "Arabidopsis genes encoding components of the chloroplastic protein import apparatus." *Plant Physiol*, 125(4), 1567-76.

- Jacob-Dubuisson, F., Fernandez, R., and Coutte, L. (2004). "Protein secretion through autotransporter and two-partner pathways." *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1694(1-3), 235-57.
- Jacob-Dubuisson, F., Villeret, V., Clantin, B., Delattre, A. S., and Saint, N. (2009). "First structural insights into the TpsB/Omp85 superfamily." *Biol Chem*, 390(8), 675-84.
- Jarvis, P. (2008). "Targeting of nucleus-encoded proteins to chloroplasts in plants." *New Phytol*, 179(2), 257-85.
- Jarvis, P., Chen, L. J., Li, H., Peto, C. A., Fankhauser, C., and Chory, J. (1998). "An Arabidopsis mutant defective in the plastid general protein import apparatus." *Science*, 282(5386), 100-3.
- Jouhet, J., and Gray, J. C. (2009). "Interaction of actin and the chloroplast protein import apparatus." *J Biol Chem*, 284(28), 19132-41.
- Kajava, A. V., and Steven, A. C. (2006). "The turn of the screw: variations of the abundant beta-solenoid motif in passenger domains of Type V secretory proteins." *J Struct Biol*, 155(2), 306-15.
- Kalanon, M., and McFadden, G. I. (2008). "The chloroplast protein translocation complexes of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii: a bioinformatic comparison of Toc and Tic components in plants, green algae and red algae." *Genetics*, 179(1), 95-112.
- Keegstra, K., and Cline, K. (1999). "Protein import and routing systems of chloroplasts." *Plant Cell*, 11(4), 557-70.
- Keegstra, K., Werner-Washburne, M., Cline, K., and Andrews, J. (1984). "The Chloroplast Envelope: Is It Homologous With the Double Membranes of Mitochondria and Gram-Negative Bacteria?" *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 24, 55-68.
- Kennedy, M. B. (1995). "Origin of PDZ (DHR, GLGF) domains." Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 20(9), 350.
- Kessler, F., and Blobel, G. (1996). "Interaction of the protein import and folding machineries of the chloroplast." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93(15), 7684-9.
- Kessler, F., Blobel, G., Patel, H. A., and Schnell, D. (1994). "Identification of two GTPbinding proteins in the chloroplast protein import machinery." *Science*, 266, 1035-1039.
- Khan, A. R., Baker, B. M., Ghosh, P., Biddison, W. E., and Wiley, D. C. (2000). "The structure and stability of an HLA-A\*0201/octameric tax peptide complex with an empty conserved peptide-N-terminal binding site." *J Immunol*, 164(12), 6398-405.
- Kikuchi, S., Hirohashi, T., and Nakai, M. (2006). "Characterization of the preprotein translocon at the outer envelope membrane of chloroplasts by blue native PAGE." *Plant Cell Physiol*, 47(3), 363-71.
- Kikuchi, S., Oishi, M., Hirabayashi, Y., Lee, D. W., Hwang, I., and Nakai, M. (2009). "A 1-megadalton translocation complex containing Tic20 and Tic21 mediates chloroplast protein import at the inner envelope membrane." *Plant Cell*, 21(6), 1781-97.
- Kim, S., Malinverni, J. C., Sliz, P., Silhavy, T. J., Harrison, S. C., and Kahne, D. (2007).
   "Structure and function of an essential component of the outer membrane protein assembly machine." *Science*, 317(5840), 961-4.

- Klein, R. R., and Salvucci, M. E. (1992). "Photoaffinity Labeling of Mature and Precursor Forms of the Small Subunit of Ribulose-1,5-Bisphosphate Carboxylase/Oxygenase after Expression in Escherichia coli." *Plant Physiol*, 98(2), 546-53.
- Knowles, T. J., Jeeves, M., Bobat, S., Dancea, F., McClelland, D., Palmer, T., Overduin, M., and Henderson, I. R. (2008). "Fold and function of polypeptide transportassociated domains responsible for delivering unfolded proteins to membranes." *Mol Microbiol*, 68(5), 1216-27.
- Knowles, T. J., Scott-Tucker, A., Overduin, M., and Henderson, I. R. (2009). "Membrane protein architects: the role of the BAM complex in outer membrane protein assembly." *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 7(3), 206-14.
- Koenig, P., Mirus, O., Haarmann, R., Sommer, M. S., Sinning, I., Schleiff, E., and Tews, I. (2010). "Conserved properties of polypeptide transport-associated (POTRA) domains derived from cyanobacterial Omp85." *J Biol Chem*, 285(23), 18016-24.
- Koenig, P., Oreb, M., Hofle, A., Kaltofen, S., Rippe, K., Sinning, I., Schleiff, E., and Tews, I. (2008). "The GTPase cycle of the chloroplast import receptors Toc33/Toc34: implications from monomeric and dimeric structures." *Structure*, 16(4), 585-96.
- Kouranov, A., Chen, X., Fuks, B., and Schnell, D. (1998). "Tic20 and Tic22 are new components of the protein import apparatus at the chloroplast inner envelope membrane." *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 143(4), 991-1002.
- Kozjak, V., Wiedemann, N., Milenkovic, D., Lohaus, C., Meyer, H. E., Guiard, B., Meisinger, C., and Pfanner, N. (2003). "An essential role of Sam50 in the protein sorting and assembly machinery of the mitochondrial outer membrane." *J Biol Chem*, 278(49), 48520-3.
- Kubis, S., Baldwin, A., Patel, R., Razzaq, A., Dupree, P., Lilley, K., Kurth, J., Leister, D., and Jarvis, P. (2003). "The Arabidopsis ppi1 mutant is specifically defective in the expression, chloroplast import, and accumulation of photosynthetic proteins." *Plant Cell*, 15(8), 1859-71.
- Kubis, S., Patel, R., Combe, J., Bedard, J., Kovacheva, S., Lilley, K., Biehl, A., Leister, D., Rios, G., Koncz, C., and Jarvis, P. (2004). "Functional specialization amongst the Arabidopsis Toc159 family of chloroplast protein import receptors." *Plant Cell*, 16(8), 2059-77.
- Lee, D. W., Kim, J. K., Lee, S., Choi, S., Kim, S., and Hwang, I. (2008). "Arabidopsis nuclear-encoded plastid transit peptides contain multiple sequence subgroups with distinctive chloroplast-targeting sequence motifs." *Plant Cell*, 20(6), 1603-22.
- Lee, D. W., Lee, S., Lee, G. J., Lee, K. H., Kim, S., Cheong, G. W., and Hwang, I. (2006). "Functional characterization of sequence motifs in the transit peptide of Arabidopsis small subunit of rubisco." *Plant Physiol*, 140(2), 466-83.
- Lee, J. H., Park, H., Park, S. J., Kim, H. J., and Eom, S. H. (2011). "The structural flexibility of the shank1 PDZ domain is important for its binding to different ligands." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 407(1), 207-12.
- Lee, K. H., Kim, D. H., Lee, S. W., Kim, Z. H., and Hwang, I. (2002). "In vivo import experiments in protoplasts reveal the importance of the overall context but not

specific amino acid residues of the transit peptide during import into chloroplasts." *Mol Cells*, 14(3), 388-97.

- Lee, K. H., Kim, S. J., Lee, Y. J., Jin, J. B., and Hwang, I. (2003). "The M domain of atToc159 plays an essential role in the import of proteins into chloroplasts and chloroplast biogenesis." *J Biol Chem*, 278(38), 36794-805.
- Leipe, D. D., Wolf, Y. I., Koonin, E. V., and Aravind, L. (2002). "Classification and evolution of P-loop GTPases and related ATPases." J Mol Biol, 317(1), 41-72.
- Leister, D. (2003). "Chloroplast research in the genomic age." *Trends in Genetics*, 19(1), 47-56.
- Leister, D., and Kleine, T. (2008). "Towards a comprehensive catalog of chloroplast proteins and their interactions." *Cell Research*, 18, 1081-1083.
- Lubeck, J., Soll, J., Akita, M., Nielsen, E., and Keegstra, K. (1996). "Topology of IEP110, a component of the chloroplastic protein import machinery present in the inner envelope membrane." *EMBO J*, 15(16), 4230-8.
- Ma, Y., Kouranov, A., LaSala, S. E., and Schnell, D. J. (1996). "Two components of the chloroplast protein import apparatus, IAP86 and IAP75, interact with the transit sequence during the recognition and translocation of precursor proteins at the outer envelope." *J Cell Biol*, 134(2), 315-27.
- Manning, D. S., Reschke, D. K., and Judd, R. C. (1998). "Omp85 proteins of Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Neisseria meningitidis are similar to Haemophilus influenzae D-15-Ag and Pasteurella multocida Oma87." *Microb Pathog*, 25(1), 11-21.
- Martin, W., and Kowallik, K. V. (1999). "Annotated English translation of Mereschkowsky's 1905 paper 'Uber Natur und Ursprung der Chromatophoren im Pflanzenreiche'." *Eur J Phycol*(34), 287-295.
- Martin, W., Rujan, T., Richly, E., Hansen, A., Cornelsen, S., Lins, T., Leister, D., Stoebe, B., Hasegawa, M., and Penny, D. (2002). "Evolutionary analysis of Arabidopsis, cyanobacterial, and chloroplast genomes reveals plastid phylogeny and thousands of cyanobacterial genes in the nucleus." *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 99(19), 12246-51.
- Martin, W., and Schnarrenberger, C. (1997). "The evoluiton of the Calvin cycle from prokaryotic to eukaryotic chromosomes: a case study of functional redundancy in ancient pathways through endosymbiosis." *Current Genetics*, 32, 1-18.
- Matsuo, M., Ito, Y., Yamauchi, R., and Obokata, J. (2005). "The Rice Nuclear Genome Continuously Integrates, Shuffles, and Eliminates the Chloroplast Genome to Cause Chloroplast-Nuclear DNA Flux." *The Plant Cell*, 17, 665-675.
- May, T., and Soll, J. (2000). "14-3-3 proteins form a guidance complex with chloroplast precursor proteins in plants." *The Plant Cell*, 12, 53-63.
- McFadden, G. I. (1999). "Endosymbiosis and evolution of the plant cell." *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 2(6), 513-9.
- Mereschkowsky, C. (1905). "Uber Natur und Ursprung der Chromatophoren im Pflanzenreich." *Biol. Centralbl*.(25), 593-604, 689-691.
- Moslavac, S., Mirus, O., Bredemeier, R., Soll, J., von Haeseler, A., and Schleiff, E. (2005). "Conserved pore-forming regions in polypeptide-transporting proteins." *FEBS J*, 272(6), 1367-78.

- Naveed, H., Jackups, R., Jr., and Liang, J. (2009). "Predicting weakly stable regions, oligomerization state, and protein-protein interfaces in transmembrane domains of outer membrane proteins." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(31), 12735-40.
- Nielsen, E., Akita, M., Davila-Aponte, J., and Keegstra, K. (1997). "Stable association of chloroplastic precursors with protein translocation complexes that contain proteins from both envelope membranes and a stromal Hsp100 molecular chaperone." *EMBO J*, 16(5), 935-46.
- Noutsos, C., Richly, E., and Leister, D. (2005). "Generation and evolutionary fate of insertations of organelle DNA in the nuclear genomes of flowering plants." *Genome Research*, 15, 616-628.
- Olsen, L., Theg, S., Selman, B., and Keegstra, K. (1989). "ATP is required for the binding of precursor proteins to chloroplasts." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(12), 6724-6729.
- Paschen, S. A., Waizenegger, T., Stan, T., Preuss, M., Cyrklaff, M., Hell, K., Rapaport, D., and Neupert, W. (2003). "Evolutionary conservation of biogenesis of betabarrel membrane proteins." *Nature*, 426(6968), 862-6.
- Patel, R., Hsu, S. C., Bedard, J., Inoue, K., and Jarvis, P. (2008). "The Omp85-related chloroplast outer envelope protein OEP80 is essential for viability in Arabidopsis." *Plant Physiol*, 148(1), 235-45.
- Perry, S. E., and Keegstra, K. (1994). "Envelope membrane proteins that interact with chloroplastic precursor proteins." *Plant Cell*, 6(1), 93-105.
- Pinnaduwage, P., and Bruce, B. D. (1996). "In vitro interaction between a chloroplast transit peptide and chloroplast outer envelope lipids is sequence-specific and lipid class-dependent." *J Biol Chem*, 271(51), 32907-15.
- Ponting, C. P. (1997). "Evidence for PDZ domains in bacteria, yeast, and plants." *Protein Sci*, 6(2), 464-8.
- Poolman, J. T., Bakaletz, L., Cripps, A., Denoel, P. A., Forsgren, A., Kyd, J., and Lobet, Y. (2000). "Developing a nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae (NTHi) vaccine." *Vaccine*, 19 Suppl 1, S108-15.
- Qbadou, S., Becker, T., Bionda, T., Reger, K., Ruprecht, M., Soll, J., and Schleiff, E. (2007). "Toc64--a preprotein-receptor at the outer membrane with bipartide function." *J Mol Biol*, 367(5), 1330-46.
- Qbadou, S., Becker, T., Mirus, O., Tews, I., Soll, J., and Schleiff, E. (2006). "The molecular chaperone Hsp90 delivers precursor proteins to the chloroplast import receptor Toc64." *EMBO J*, 25(9), 1836-47.
- Reddick, L. E., Chotewutmontri, P., Crenshaw, W., Dave, A., Vaughn, M., and Bruce, B. D. (2008). "Nano-scale characterization of the dynamics of the chloroplast Toc translocon." *Methods Cell Biol*, 90, 365-98.
- Reddick, L. E., Vaughn, M. D., Wright, S. J., Campbell, I. M., and Bruce, B. D. (2007).
  "In vitro comparative kinetic analysis of the chloroplast Toc GTPases." *J Biol Chem*, 282(15), 11410-26.
- Rensink, W. A., Schnell, D. J., and Weisbeek, P. J. (2000). "The transit sequence of ferredoxin contains different domains for translocation across the outer and inner membrane of the chloroplast envelope." *J Biol Chem*, 275(14), 10265-71.

- Reumann, S., Davila-Aponte, J., and Keegstra, K. (1999). "The evolutionary origin of the protein-translocating channel of chloroplastic envelope membranes: identification of a cyanobacterial homolog." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96(2), 784-9.
- Reumann, S., Inoue, K., and Keegstra, K. (2005). "Evolution of the general protein import pathway of plastids (review)." *Mol Membr Biol*, 22(1-2), 73-86.
- Reumann, S., and Keegstra, K. (1999). "The endosymbiotic origin of the protein import machinery of chloroplastic envelope membranes." *Trends Plant Sci*, 4(8), 302-307.
- Richards, F. M., and Knowles, J. R. (1968). "Glutaraldehyde as a protein cross-linkage reagent." *J Mol Biol*, 37(1), 231-3.
- Richardson, L. G., Jelokhani-Niaraki, M., and Smith, M. D. (2009). "The acidic domains of the Toc159 chloroplast preprotein receptor family are intrinsically disordered protein domains." *BMC Biochem*, 10, 35.
- Richter, S., and Lamppa, G. K. (1998). "A chloroplast processing enzyme functions as the general stromal processing peptidase." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95(13), 7463-8.
- Rietveld, A. G., Koorengevel, M. C., and de Kruijff, B. (1995). "Non-bilayer lipids are required for efficient protein transport across the plasma membrane of Escherichia coli." *EMBO J*, 14(22), 5506-13.
- Robb, C. W., Orihuela, C. J., Ekkelenkamp, M. B., and Niesel, D. W. (2001). "Identification and characterization of an in vivo regulated D15/Oma87 homologue in Shigella flexneri using differential display polymerase chain reaction." *Gene*, 262(1-2), 169-77.
- Rothman, J. E. (1989). "Polypeptide chain binding proteins: catalysts of protein folding and related processes in cells." *Cell*, 59(4), 591-601.
- Ruffolo, C. G., and Adler, B. (1996). "Cloning, sequencing, expression, and protective capacity of the oma87 gene encoding the Pasteurella multocida 87-kilodalton outer membrane antigen." *Infect Immun*, 64(8), 3161-7.
- Rumpho, M. E., Worful, J. M., Lee, J., Kannan, K., Tyler, M. S., Bhattacharya, D., Moustafa, A., and Manhart, J. R. (2008). "Horizontal gene transfer of the algal nuclear gene psbO to the photosynthetic sea slug Elysia chlorotica." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105(46), 17867-71.
- Saito, H., and Uchida, H. (1978). "Organization and expression of the dnaJ and dnaK genes of Escherichia coli K12." *Mol Gen Genet*, 164(1), 1-8.
- Sanchez-Pulido, L., Devos, D., Genevrois, S., Vicente, M., and Valencia, A. (2003).
  "POTRA: a conserved domain in the FtsQ family and a class of beta-barrel outer membrane proteins." *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 28(10), 523-526.
- Saper, M. A., Bjorkman, P. J., and Wiley, D. C. (1991). "Refined structure of the human histocompatibility antigen HLA-A2 at 2.6 A resolution." *J Mol Biol*, 219(2), 277-319.
- Schleiff, E., Eichacker, L. A., Eckart, K., Becker, T., Mirus, O., Stahl, T., and Soll, J. (2003a). "Prediction of the plant beta-barrel proteome: a case study of the chloroplast outer envelope." *Protein Sci*, 12(4), 748-59.
- Schleiff, E., Jelic, M., and Soll, J. (2003b). "A GTP-driven motor moves proteins across the outer envelope of chloroplasts." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100(8), 4604-9.

- Schleiff, E., Soll, J., Kuchler, M., Kuhlbrandt, W., and Harrer, R. (2003c).
  "Characterization of the translocon of the outer envelope of chloroplasts." *J Cell Biol*, 160(4), 541-51.
- Schmid, D., Baici, A., Gehring, H., and Christen, P. (1994). "Kinetics of molecular chaperone action." *Science*, 263(5149), 971-3.
- Schmidt, G. W., Bartlett, S. G., Grossman, A. R., Cashmore, A. R., and Chua, N. H. (1981). "Biosynthetic pathways of two polypeptide subunits of the light-harvesting chlorophyll a/b protein complex." *J Cell Biol*, 91(2 Pt 1), 468-78.
- Schnell, D., and Blobel, G. (1993). "Identification of intermediates in the pathway of protein import into chloroplasts and their localization to envelope contact sites." *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 120(1), 103-115.
- Schnell, D. J., Kessler, F., and Blobel, G. (1994). "Isolation of components of the chloroplast protein import machinery." *Science*, 266(5187), 1007-12.
- Schreier, P. H., Seftor, E. A., Schell, J., and Bohnert, H. J. (1985). "The use of nuclearencoded sequences to direct the light-regulated synthesis and transport of a foreign protein into plant chloroplasts." *EMBO J*, 4(1), 25-32.
- Schuck, P. (2000). "Size-distribution analysis of macromolecules by sedimentation velocity ultracentrifugation and lamm equation modeling." *Biophys J*, 78(3), 1606-19.
- Scott, S., and Theg, S. (1996). "A new chloroplast protein import intermediate reveals distinct translocation machineries in the two envelope membranes: energetics and mechanistic implications." *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 132(1&2), 63-75.
- Seedorf, M., Waegemann, K., and Soll, J. (1995). "A constituent of the chloroplast import complex represents a new type of GTP-binding protein." *Plant J*, 7(3), 401-11.
- Sklar, J. G., Wu, T., Kahne, D., and Silhavy, T. J. (2007). "Defining the roles of the periplasmic chaperones SurA, Skp, and DegP in Escherichia coli." *Genes Dev*, 21(19), 2473-84.
- Smith, M. D., Rounds, C. M., Wang, F., Chen, K., Afitlhile, M., and Schnell, D. J. (2004). "atToc159 is a selective transit peptide receptor for the import of nucleus-encoded chloroplast proteins." *J Cell Biol*, 165(3), 323-34.
- Springer, S., Doring, K., Skipper, J. C., Townsend, A. R., and Cerundolo, V. (1998). "Fast association rates suggest a conformational change in the MHC class I molecule H-2Db upon peptide binding." *Biochemistry*, 37(9), 3001-12.
- Stahl, T., Glockmann, C., Soll, J., and Heins, L. (1999). "Tic40, a new "old" subunit of the chloroplast protein import translocon." *J Biol Chem*, 274(52), 37467-72.
- Stanga, J. P., Boonsirichai, K., Sedbrook, J. C., Otegui, M. S., and Masson, P. H. (2009). "A role for the TOC complex in Arabidopsis root gravitropism." *Plant Physiol*, 149(4), 1896-905.
- Stegemann, S., and Bock, R. (2006). "Experimental Reconstruction of Functional Gene Transfer from the Tobacco Plastid Genome to the Nucleus." *The Plant Cell*, 18, 2869-2878.
- Sun, Y. J., Forouhar, F., Li Hm, H. M., Tu, S. L., Yeh, Y. H., Kao, S., Shr, H. L., Chou, C. C., Chen, C., and Hsiao, C. D. (2002). "Crystal structure of pea Toc34, a novel GTPase of the chloroplast protein translocon." *Nat Struct Biol*, 9(2), 95-100.

- Sveshnikova, N., Soll, J., and Schleiff, E. (2000). "Toc34 is a preprotein receptor regulated by GTP and phosphorylation." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97(9), 4973-8.
- Theg, S., Bauerle, C., Olsen, L., Selman, B., and Keegstra, K. (1989). "Internal ATP is the only energy requirement for the translocation of precursor proteins across chloroplastic membranes." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(12), 6730-6736.
- Townsend, A., and Bodmer, H. (1989). "Antigen recognition by class I-restricted T lymphocytes." *Annu Rev Immunol*, 7, 601-24.
- Tranel, P. J., Froehlich, J., Goyal, A., and Keegstra, K. (1995). "A component of the chloroplastic protein import apparatus is targeted to the outer envelope membrane via a novel pathway." *EMBO J*, 14(11), 2436-46.
- Ueda, M., Fujimoto, M., Arimura, S., Tsutsumi, N., and Kadowaki, K. (2006). "Evidence for Transit Peptide Acquisition through Duplication and Subsequent Frameshift Mutation of a Preexisting Protein Gene in Rice." *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 23(12), 2405-2412.
- van 't Hof, R., Demel, R. A., Keegstra, K., and de Kruijff, B. (1991). "Lipid-peptide interactions between fragments of the transit peptide of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase and chloroplast membrane lipids." *FEBS Lett*, 291(2), 350-4.
- Van den Broeck, G., Timko, M. P., Kausch, A. P., Cashmore, A. R., Van Montagu, M., and Herrera-Estrella, L. (1985). "Targeting of a foreign protein to chloroplasts by fusion to the transit peptide from the small subunit of ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase." *Nature*, 313(6001), 358-63.
- van den Ent, F., Vinkenvleugel, T. M., Ind, A., West, P., Veprintsev, D., Nanninga, N., den Blaauwen, T., and Lowe, J. (2008). "Structural and mutational analysis of the cell division protein FtsQ." *Mol Microbiol*, 68(1), 110-23.
- Vernoud, V., Horton, A. C., Yang, Z., and Nielsen, E. (2003). "Analysis of the small GTPase gene superfamily of Arabidopsis." *Plant Physiol*, 131(3), 1191-208.
- von Heijne, G., and Nishikawa, K. (1991). "Chloroplast transit peptides. The perfect random coil?" *FEBS Lett*, 278(1), 1-3.
- von Heijne, G., Steppuhn, J., and Herrmann, R. G. (1989). "Domain structure of mitochondrial and chloroplast targeting peptides." *Eur J Biochem*, 180(3), 535-45.
- Voulhoux, R., Bos, M. P., Geurtsen, J., Mols, M., and Tommassen, J. (2003). "Role of a highly conserved bacterial protein in outer membrane protein assembly." *Science*, 299(5604), 262-5.
- Voulhoux, R., and Tommassen, J. (2004). "Omp85, an evolutionarily conserved bacterial protein involved in outer-membrane-protein assembly." *Res Microbiol*, 155(3), 129-35.
- Vuong, P., Bennion, D., Mantei, J., Frost, D., and Misra, R. (2008). "Analysis of YfgL and YaeT interactions through bioinformatics, mutagenesis, and biochemistry." J Bacteriol, 190(5), 1507-17.
- Waegemann, K., Paulsen, H., and Soll, J. (1990). "Translocation of proteins into isolated chloroplasts requires cytosolic factors to obrain import competence." *Federation* of European Biochemical Societies, 261(1), 89-92.

- Waegemann, K., and Soll, J. (1991). "Characterization of the protein import apparatus in isolated outer envelopes of chloroplasts." *The Plant Journal*, 1(2), 149-158.
- Walter, M. R., Buick, R., and Dunlop, J. S. R. (1980). "Stromatolites 3,400-3,500 Myr old from the North Pole area, Western Australia." *Nature*, 284, 443-445.
- Ward, R., Zoltner, M., Beer, L., El Mkami, H., Henderson, I. R., Palmer, T., and Norman, D. G. (2009). "The orientation of a tandem POTRA domain pair, of the betabarrel assembly protein BamA, determined by PELDOR spectroscopy." *Structure*, 17(9), 1187-94.
- Weeden, N. F. (1981). "Genetic and Biochemical Implications of the Endosymbiotic Origin of the Chloroplast." *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 17, 133-139.
- Weirich, C. S., Erzberger, J. P., and Barral, Y. (2008). "The septin family of GTPases: architecture and dynamics." *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 9(6), 478-89.
- Welch, W. J., and Feramisco, J. R. (1985). "Rapid purification of mammalian 70,000dalton stress proteins: affinity of the proteins for nucleotides." *Mol Cell Biol*, 5(6), 1229-37.
- Wienk, H. L., Czisch, M., and de Kruijff, B. (1999). "The structural flexibility of the preferredoxin transit peptide." *FEBS Lett*, 453(3), 318-26.
- Wu, T., Malinverni, J., Ruiz, N., Kim, S., Silhavy, T. J., and Kahne, D. (2005).
  "Identification of a multicomponent complex required for outer membrane biogenesis in Escherichia coli." *Cell*, 121(2), 235-45.
- Yang, Y., Thomas, W. R., Chong, P., Loosmore, S. M., and Klein, M. H. (1998). "A 20kilodalton N-terminal fragment of the D15 protein contains a protective epitope(s) against Haemophilus influenzae type a and type b." *Infect Immun*, 66(7), 3349-54.
- Zhang, X. P., and Glaser, E. (2002). "Interaction of plant mitochondrial and chloroplast signal peptides with the Hsp70 molecular chaperone." *Trends Plant Sci*, 7(1), 14-21.
- Zhu, X., Zhao, X., Burkholder, W. F., Gragerov, A., Ogata, C. M., Gottesman, M. E., and Hendrickson, W. A. (1996). "Structural analysis of substrate binding by the molecular chaperone DnaK." *Science*, 272(5268), 1606-14.

Appendix

## Appendix 1 POTRA1-3 PCR Recipe

| 10x ExTaq Buffer             | 5 µl                 |  |
|------------------------------|----------------------|--|
| 10 mM dNTP mix (2.5 mM each) | 4 µl                 |  |
| Forward Primer (10 µM)       | 1 µl                 |  |
| Reverse Primer (10 µM)       | 1 µl                 |  |
| Template DNA (200 ng/µl)     | 0.4 µl               |  |
| ExTaq (5 Units/µI)           | 0.25 µl              |  |
| ddH <sub>2</sub> O           | 39.45 µl             |  |
| Total Reaction Volume        | eaction Volume 50 µl |  |
|                              |                      |  |

## Appendix 2 PCR Cycling Conditions for POTRA1-3-His

- 1. 94°C 5 min.
- 2. 94°C 30 sec.
- 3. 55°C 30 sec.
- 4. 72°C 1 min.
- 5. Repeat steps 2-4 34 times
- 6. 72°C 5 min.
- 7. 4°C Hold

# Appendix 3 Ligation of POTRA1-3 into pGEM-T Easy

| 2x Rapid Ligation Buffer       | 5 µl  |  |
|--------------------------------|-------|--|
| pGEM-T Easy Vector (100 ng/µl) | 1 µl  |  |
| PCR Product (22.4 ng/µl)       | 3 µl  |  |
| T4 DNA Ligase (3 Units/µI)     | 1 µl  |  |
| Total Reaction Volume          | 10 µl |  |

### Appendix 4 Colony PCR Screen Recipe

| 5x GoTaq Buffer               | 5 µl    |
|-------------------------------|---------|
| dNTP mix (2.5 mM each)        | 2 µl    |
| M 13 Forward Primer (10 µM)   | 0.5 µl  |
| M 13 Reverse Primer (10 µM)   | 0.5 µl  |
| GoTaq Polymerase (5 Units/µl) | 0.1 µl  |
| 30% Triton X-100              | 0.2 µl  |
| ddH <sub>2</sub> O*           | 16.7 µl |
| Total Reaction Volume         | 25 µl   |
|                               |         |

\* *E. coli* colony is added directly to the  $ddH_2O$  in the PCR tube before adding remaining ingredients

### Appendix 5 PCR Cycling Conditions for Colony PCR of POTRA1-3-His

- 1. 94°C 5 min.
- 2. 94°C 30 sec.
- 3. 50°C 30 sec.
- 4. 72°C 1.5 min.
- 5. Repeat steps 2-4 34 times
- 6. 72°C 7 min.
- 7. 4°C Hold

## Appendix 6 Ligation of POTRA1-3 into pET-30(a)

| 2x Rapid Ligation Buffer    | 5 µl  |
|-----------------------------|-------|
| pET-30(a) (48.6 ng/µl)      | 1 µl  |
| POTRA1-3 (22.5 ng/μl)       | 3 µl  |
| T4 DNA Ligase (3 Units/ μl) | 1 µl  |
| Total Reaction Volume       | 10 µl |

### Appendix 7 Colony PCR Screen Recipe

| 5x GoTaq Buffer               | 5 µl    |
|-------------------------------|---------|
| dNTP mix (2.5 mM each)        | 2 µl    |
| T7 Promoter F (10 μM)         | 0.5 µl  |
| T7 Terminator R (10 μM)       | 0.5 µl  |
| GoTaq Polymerase (5 Units/µl) | 0.1 µl  |
| 30% Triton X-100              | 0.2 µl  |
| ddH <sub>2</sub> O*           | 16.7 µl |
| Total Reaction Volume         | 25 µl   |
|                               |         |

\* *E. coli* colony is added directly to the  $ddH_2O$  in the PCR tube before adding remaining ingredients

#### Appendix 8 PCR Cycling Conditions for Colony PCR of POTRA1-3-His

- 1. 94°C 5 min.
- 2. 94°C 30 sec.
- 3. 50°C 30 sec.
- 4. 72°C 1.5 min.
- 5. Repeat steps 2-4 34 times
- 6. 72°C 7 min.
- 7. 4°C Hold

|   | Stacking (µl) | Separating (µI) | Resolving (µl) |
|---|---------------|-----------------|----------------|
| 49.5% acrylamide - 3%<br>bis-acrylamide | 120           | 305             | 0              |
| 49.5% acrylamide - 6%<br>bis-acrylamide | 0             | 0               | 1000           |
| 3 M Tris-HCl pH 8.4, 0.3%<br>SDS        | 375           | 500             | 1000           |
| 80% Glycerol                            | 0             | 0               | 375            |
| ddH <sub>2</sub> O                      | 1000          | 700             | 600            |
| APS                                     | 24            | 20              | 20             |
| TEMED                                   | 10            | 5               | 5              |

## Appendix 9 Tris-Tricine Gel Recipe

Richard Franklin Simmerman was born in Knoxville, Tennessee on May 6, 1982. He attended primary through high school at Farragut High School in Farragut, Tennessee. He graduated from Farragut High School, in Farragut, Tennesse in 2000. He obrained his Bachelor's Degree in Biochemistry, Cellular, and Molecular Biology from the University of Tennessee, Knoxville in 2005. He worked for Dr. Chris Dealwis and later for Dr. Alexandre at the University of Tennessee after graduation, and joined the graduate program in Biochemistry, Cellular, and Molecular Biology in the fall of 2006. He joined the lab of Barry Bruce in the fall of 2008 to conduct research on protein import into chloroplasts, focusing on determining the interaction partners of Toc75 and more specifically its POTRA domains. After completing his Master's Degree in August of 2011, he plans to pursue his PhD in the field of alternative energy in the Biochemistry, Cellular, and Molecular Biology.